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BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., a subsidiary of BDO, has established 

a sterling track record of service and innovation in the leasing and finance 

industry. It is a recognized leader in the market it serves, as manifested by 

consistent excellent financial results, as well as, a continuously growing 

client base.

Capitalizing on the Unibank’s extensive market reach and the wide 

product range, BDO Leasing continued to be ahead of its competitors in 

terms of total assets, capitalization and profitability. Net Income reached 

P2.04 billion in 2010, 3% higher year-on-year, while total loans and leasing 

portfolio levels reached P14.6 billion, attributable to intensified marketing 

efforts and expedient loan processing.

BDO Leasing also continued to have the highest approved ceiling for 

short-term commercial papers (STCP) in the financing industry, particularly 

with the recent approval by the Securities and Exchange Commission to 

increase its STCP license to P12 billion. Further, the Philippine Ratings 

Services Corp. (PhilRatings) assigned a PRS 2 minus rating to this STCP 

issuance reflecting BDO Leasing’s strong capability for payment of the 

commercial paper issue on both interest and principal.

 The BDO brand not only strengthened the company’s position in the 

industry but also revolutionized its capability to meet new sets of challenges 

and expectations.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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Financial Highlights

Gross Income
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Net Profit

Equity

300.0

Basic Earnings 

Per Share

In Million Pesos

For the Year  2008* 2009* 2010 

Gross Income 1,368.5           2,209.7           2,038.0  

Total Expenses 837.9 1,755.3 1,629.4   

Total Tax 165.0 154.4  99.9   

Net Profit 365.6 300.0 308.7   

Basic Earnings Per Share 0.17 0.14 0.14   

 

At Year End    

Total Assets 10,366.9 13,010.7  15,288.4  

Loans & Other Receivables-Net 7,692.9 9,142.7 11,953.0  

Equity 4,467.6 4,335.1 4,565.8   
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Y
our company earned P308.7 million and 

booked revenues of P2.04 billion in 2010. 

The improved performance was 

supported by the 28 percent growth in our 

loan portfolio to P14.58 billion as we intensified 

our focus on current Bank clients during the 

past year. This effort is an offshoot of the 

synergy we have with our parent firm, Banco 

De Oro Unibank, Inc. 
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We are pleased to report that in 

2010, your company managed to cut 

its operating costs and expenses by 

nearly 8 percent. Our objective is to 

continuously manage our expenditure 

without jeopardizing the quality of our 

service and product offerings. 

BDO Leasing and Finance was 

able to obtain the nod of the Securities 

and Exchange Commission (SEC) 

to raise its short-term commercial 

paper (STCP) license from P8 billion 

to P12 billion. This would allow 

your company to guarantee a level 

of funding in harmony with the 

projected increase in the level of 

business in 2011 and further develop 

its IT systems. 

Looking ahead, we see a 

challenging environment triggered 

by external pressures. As we’ve 

shown in the past, we try our best to 

find opportunities even in times of 

uncertainty. 

Rest assured that your 

management team and board of 

directors are committed to finding 

ways to serve the clients better 

and protect the interests of the 

shareholders. 

TERESITA T. SY
Chairman

ROBERTO E. LAPID
Vice Chairman*

(*Mr. Lapid assumed his new role as vice chair of the Board in Dec. 2010.)
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Review of Operations

Making Good Progress In  
Challenging Market Conditions

BDO Leasing and Finance grew steadily 

in 2010, registering a total net profit of P308.7 

million from P300.0 million of the previous 

year. This was mainly attributed to the 

increase in revenues by 9.7 percent from its 

finance lease and lending operations, and 

reduction in operating costs and expenses 

by 7.2 percent to P1.62 billion – indications of 

improved efficiency both in marketing and in 

operations.
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GEORGIANA A. GAMBOA

 President

In 2010, BDOLF heightened its focus on 

large corporate accounts, an effort made in 

close coordination with parent firm Banco 

De Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO). This was 

made evident as total assets grew to P15.28 

billion, of which P11.8 billion or 77 percent 

represent net loans and other receivables. 

Through the help of BDO’s extensive 

network of branches and diverse clientele, 

BDOLF was able to increase its portfolio 

by 31% from 2009 levels. 

For 2011, the Company will continue 

to build its portfolio by finding niche 

markets whose requirements (in leasing 

and factoring of receivables) remain 

untapped by the commercial banks. 

Corporates and SME clients will remain 

a priority as BDOLF aims to expand and 

improve its client network, while retaining 

market leadership. The company remains 

optimistic in its business outlook for 

the coming year and will forge on in its 

commitment to providing affordable and 

readily available financing and leasing 

alternatives to the Philippine commercial 

sector. 

(Ms. Gamboa assumed the position of president on Dec. 1, 2010.)
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Corporate Governance

Our Philosophy

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors and its 

advisers are professionals from 

various fields of expertise, such 

as banking, financial leasing, 

legal, accounting, merchandise 

marketing and regulatory agencies. 

BDOLF has three directors who 

are independent of management 

and free from any business or 

other relationship which could 

reasonably be perceived to 

materially interfere with their 

exercise of independent judgment 

in carrying out their responsibilities 

as directors in the company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four 

committees to assist it in shaping 

the Company’s corporate policies 

and practices, and help ensure 

adherence to corporate governance 

principles.

Executive Committee

Chairman: Teresita T. Sy

Members: Nestor V. Tan; Roberto E. 

Lapid; Antonio N. Cotoco; Evelyn L. 

Villanueva; Walter C. Wassmer; and 

Georgiana A. Gamboa

The Executive Committee acts on 

behalf of the Board of Directors on 

matters affecting the operations of 

the Bank subject to such authorities 

that may be imposed by the Board 

of Directors. The committee, which 

meets at least once a week, also 

assesses the viability of credit 

and investment proposals giving 

due consideration to the credit 

risk involved and impact on the 

Company’s financials. Likewise, 

it has the authority to approve 

within set limits projects or such 

other initiatives for enhancing the 

Company’s operating and service 

delivery capabilities.

Board Audit Committee

Chairman: Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus 

(Independent)

Members: Jesse H. T. Andres 

(Independent); and Jesus G. Tirona 

(Independent)

Adviser: Shirley M. Sangalang

The Board Audit Committee 

provides oversight of the 

Company’s financial reporting 

and control as well as its internal 

and external audit and compliance 

functions. It reviews and assesses 

the Company’s annual audit plan, 

its system of internal controls and 

regular financial and audit reports. 

It evaluates strategic issues relating 

to plans and policies, financial 

and system controls, and methods 

of operation, seeing to their 

adequacy and pinpointing possible 

improvements.

As a continuing practice, 

the following were extensively 

discussed and consistently 

reviewed:

• the scope and plan of internal 
and external audit;

• signiicant audit indings 
including risk assessment and 

evaluation of internal controls;

• internal audit progress report 
and monitoring of resolution 

findings;

• report on compliance with 
regulatory bodies and 

management’s corresponding 

action;

• internal audit’s manpower 
resources as well as its staff 

proficiency improvement 

programs;

• annual audited inancial 
statements and the analysis of 

quarterly results of operations;

• new legal and regulatory 
initiatives affecting the banking 

industry and its impact on the 

Company’s operations

As a publicly listed company and as a member of the BDO group, BDO Leasing 

and Finance (BDOLF) believes that the key to long-term sustainability and success 

largely depends on having a good name and solid reputation in the market place. To 

achieve that, it is necessary that we set high standards of ethical values, transparency, 

accountability and fairness in all our business transactions. We adhere to corporate 

governance because the interests of our shareholders, customers, employees, 

government and the public at large are on top of our priorities.
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The committee, which meets 

at least once a month, held 12 

meetings in 2010.

Corporate Governance, 

Nomination and Compensation 

and Remuneration Committee

Chairman: Edmundo L. Tan

Members: Jesse H.T. Andres 

(Independent); Antonio N. Cotoco; 

and Antonio A. Henson

The Committee reviews and 

assesses the Company’s corporate 

governance practices, and 

recommends the applicable 

guidelines, monitors compliance, 

and suggests improvements 

to ensure effectiveness. It 

provides oversight on the annual 

performance self-evaluation of 

the Board, its committees, and 

executive management.

In 2010, the Committee 

accomplished the following:

• updated and enhanced 
BDOLF’s Corporate 

Governance Manual, a guide 

for the Company’s business and 

operations to be conducted in 

accordance with the principles 

and best practices of good 

corporate governance.

• improved the disclosures of 
the Company’s Corporate 

Governance policies and 

practices using the Scorecards 

of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) and Institute 

of Corporate Directors (ICD) 

Corporate Governance as 

reference.

• conducted the annual 
performance evaluation of 

the board, its committees 

and senior management in 

compliance with BSP Circular 

Nos. 456 and 592, as well 

as with SEC Memorandum 

Circular No. 2, Series of 2002.

The Committee provides 

oversight on directors’ compensation 

and remuneration of senior 

management and other key 

personnel, ensuring consistency 

of the compensation policies and 

practices with the corporate culture 

and strategy of the Company as 

well as industry practices.

The Committee also provides 

oversight on the qualifications of all 

nominees to the Board of Directors 

as well as appointments to other 

Company positions requiring 

Board approval. It recommends the 

nominees for election to the Board 

of Directors of the Company during 

the annual stockholders’ meeting. 

In case of vacancy/ies in the Board, 

the Committee seeks qualified 

nominees and recommends them to 

the Board for appointment. 

The Committee held four 

meetings in 2010.

Risk Management Committee

Chairman: Nestor V. Tan

Members: Antonio N.Cotoco; 

Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus 

(Independent); Walter C. Wassmer; 

Roberto E. Lapid; and 

Renato G. Oñate

The Risk Management Committee is 

responsible for policy development 

and oversight of the Company’s 

credit, market and operating 

risk exposures. It oversees the 

system of limits of discretionary 

authority delegated by the Board 

to management, ensuring that the 

limits are observed, and breaches, 

if any, are immediately corrected. 

It establishes the framework 

for reporting risk to the Board 

including the assessment of the 

probability and potential impact of 

each identified risk exposure to the 

Bank. Considering the importance 

of credit risk, the Executive 

Committee approves counter-party 

credit risk under the guidance of 

established policies, procedures, 

and guidelines set by the Risk 

Management Committee.

The Committee meets at least 

once every quarter and held four 

meetings in 2010.

CODE OF BUSINESS 

CONDUCT & ETHICS

The Company’s officers and staff 

adhere to the appropriate standards 

of behavior in the workplace, 

dealings with clients and other 

stakeholders, the proper handling 

and dissemination of corporate 

information, as well as the proper 

observance of regulatory policies 

as embodied in its parent Bank’s 

Employee Code of Conduct.

Related Party Transactions

The Company, in compliance with 

legal and regulatory requirements, 

maintains transparency of related 

party transactions between and 

among the Company, its parent 

Bank and its subsidiaries, affiliated 

companies, directors, officers, 

stockholders, related interests 

(DOSRI), and joint ventures.

 

Dealings with Suppliers, Clients 

and Business Partners

BDOLF employs high ethical 

standards in its business dealings 
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Corporate Governance

to ensure the integrity of its 

employees and the organization. 

As part of BDO group, the 

Company does not allow the 

acceptance, directly or indirectly, 

of any gift, gratuity, favor, loan or 

any item having monetary value or 

any other form of compensation 

from business partners, clients, 

suppliers and other third party 

service providers in connection 

with a service that may, in any way, 

influence employees’ decision-

making.

RISK MANAGEMENT

BDOLF constantly seeks 

to improve the maturity, 

robustness and relevance of its 

risk management framework 

and to promote enhanced risk 

management discipline across 

all its businesses and supporting 

functions. BDOLF ensures that 

potential risks are monitored, 

assessed and managed at the 

appropriate level.

 It has adopted the Social and 

Environmental Management 

Systems (SEMS) Policy of its 

Parent Bank that will ensure 

environmental and social 

consciousness. This entailed the 

assessment and categorization 

of the environmental impact of 

the Company operations, and the 

proper monitoring and compliance 

to local and international 

environmental standards.

ACCOUNTABILITY & 

COMPLIANCE

The Board and Management 

adhere to the corporate governance 

principles of accountability and 

compliance in performing their 

legal obligations and managing of 

financial reporting, operational, and 

regulatory risks.

Internal Audit

BDO’s Internal Audit Division 

(IAD), under the direct supervision 

of the Board Audit Committee, 

provides independent, objective 

assurance and consulting services 

designed to add value and help 

improve the Company’s Internal 

Control Processes, such as Financial 

Reporting, Information Technology 

and Security, Operational Controls, 

and to highlight the areas for 

enhancing Operational Efficiency.

External Audit

On May 31, 2010, the stockholders 

approved the re-appointment of 

Punongbayan & Araullo, as external 

auditor of BDOLF for the year 

2010. The Company is compliant 

with the rotation requirement of its 

external auditor’s certifying partner 

as required under the Securities 

Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 68 (3)

(b)(iv).

Compliance

The Compliance Unit reporting 

directly to the Board Audit 

Committee oversees and 

coordinates the implementation 

of the Company’s compliance 

program.  This includes the 

identification, monitoring and 

controlling of compliance risk for 

the whole Company.

The Compliance Unit also 

handles the administration of 

the Company’s compliance with 

the Anti-Money Laundering Act 

(AMLA) and its implementing rules 

and regulations; and adherence to 

Know Your Client (KYC) policies, 

monitoring and reporting of 

transactions and the conduct of 

AML training. The Parent Bank’s 

AMLU provides oversight to ensure 
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compliance with AML rules and 

regulations.

STAKEHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Investor Relations

The Company observes best 

practices and compliance in 

transparency and information 

disclosure. It regularly submits its 

regulatory disclosures to the PSE 

regarding the interim results and 

other recent developments.

Employee Programs

BDOLF’s commitment to good 

corporate governance was evident 

in 2010 through the continuing 

training and development of 

BDOLF employees from new 

hirees, regular officers and staff, to 

senior management and the Board 

of Directors. Training programs 

covered management development 

programs, product orientations, 

compliance training such as 

updates on Anti Money Laundering 

(AML) and Corporate Governance 

and behavioral courses.

The Board of Directors and 

Advisers of the Bank and its 

subsidiaries and selected senior 

management have attended the 

seminar on Corporate Governance. 

Two of them attended the Institute 

of Corporate Directors (ICD) 

Professional Directors Program 

specifically, Directors Jessie H.T. 

Andres and Antonio A. Henson.

REPORTING AND 

TRANSPARENCY

Financial Reporting

The financial statements of BDOLF 

and the financial statements of 

the Parent Bank are prepared in 

accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standards in the 

Philippines (FRSP) for banks.

The financial statements are 

presented in accordance with 

Philippine Accounting Standards 

(PAS) 1 (Revised 2007), Presentation 

of Financial Statements where all 

items of income and expenses are 

presented in a single statement 

of comprehensive income. 

Two comparative periods are 

presented for the statement 

of financial position when the 

Company applies an accounting 

policy retrospectively, makes a 

retrospective restatement of items 

in its financial statements, or 

reclassifies items in the financial 

statements.

Public Disclosures

The Company is committed at all 

times to fully disclose all material 

information and other information 

required to be presented by 

regulatory requirements through its 

annual report and website 

www.leasing.bdo.com.ph 

(under “About Us/Investor Relations”).
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Teresita T. Sy

Chairman

Atty. Fulgencio S. Factoran Jr.

Director

Atty. Jesse H. T. Andres

Independent Director

Board of Directors

Roberto E. Lapid

Vice Chairman 

Antonio A. Henson

Director

Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus

Independent Director

Georgiana A. Gamboa

 President

Atty. Edmundo L. Tan

Director

Jesus G. Tirona

Independent Director
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Nestor V. Tan

Director

Exequiel P. Villacorta Jr.

Director

Hon. Jeci A. Lapus

Adviser to the Board

Gerard Lee B. Co

Director

Evelyn L. Villanueva

Director

Atty. Joseph Jason M. Natividad

Corporate Secretary 

Antonio N. Cotoco

Director

Walter C. Wassmer

Director
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Statement of Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

The management of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. is responsible for all information and representations contained in the 

financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. The financial statements have been prepared in conformity 

with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed 

judgement of management with an appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal controls 

to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded , assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition 

and liabilities are recognized. The management likewise discloses to the Company’s audit committee and to its external auditor: 

(i) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect its ability to record, 

process, and report financial data; (ii) material weaknesses in the internal controls; and (iii) any fraud that involves management 

or other employees who exercise significant roles in internal controls

The Board of Directors reviews the financial statements before such statements are approved and submitted to the stockholders 

of the Company.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined the financial statements of the 

Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation 

upon completion of such examination, in its report to the Board of Directors and Stockholders.

Signed under oath by the following:

Teresita T. Sy

Chairperson

 Georgiana A. Gamboa Rosalisa K. Alindahao

            President         Comptroller
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To the Board of Directors and to the Stockholders
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.
(A Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.)
BDO Leasing Centre, Corinthian Gardens
Ortigas Avenue, Quezon City

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. and subsidiary (the “Group”) 
and BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (the “Parent Company”) which comprise the statements of financial position as at  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements 
of cash flows for the years then ended, and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risk of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumtances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BDO Leasing and Finance, 
Inc. and subsidiary and of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, and their financial performance 
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of a Matter

As discussed in Note 20 to the financial statements, the Parent Company presented the supplementary information required 
by the Bureau of Internal Revenue under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 (RR 15-2010) on taxes, duties and license fees in a 
supplementary schedule filed separately from the basic financial statements. RR 15-2010 requires the information to be presented 
in the notes to financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management. The supplementary 
information is, however, not a required part of the basic financial statements prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards; it is neither a required disclosure under the Philippine Securities and Exchange Comission rules and 
regulations covering the form and content of financial statements under Securities Regulations Code Rule 68.

 PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

 By: Benjamin P. Valdez
 Partner

 CPA Reg. No. 0028485
 TIN 136-619-880
 PTR No. 2641799, January 3, 2011, Makati City
 Partner’s SEC Accreditation No. 009-AR-2 (until Mar. 1, 2012)
 BIR AN 08-002511-11-2008 (until Nov. 24, 2011)
 Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2012)
 Firm’s SEC Acreditation No. 0002-FR-2 (until Feb. 31, 2012)

 March 2, 2011

Report of Independent Auditors
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Group Parent Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

(As Restated) (As Restated) (As Restated) (As Restated)

Notes 2010 - Note 15) - Note 15) 2010 - Note 15) - Note 15)

ASSETS

CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS 6 P 71.9 P 232.4 P 186.1 P 69.2 P 176.4 P 171.9

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 7 1,524.4 1,300.9 1.1 1,524.4 1,300.9 1.1

LOANS AND OTHER 

RECEIVABLES - Net 8 11,953.0 9,142.7 7,692.9 11,961.6 9,131.7 8,329.3

PROPERTY AND 

EQUIPMENT - Net 9 856.9 1,452.5 1,649.7 17.9 20.3 15.2

INVESTMENT 

PROPERTIES - Net 10 701.3 725.5 710.1 701.3 725.5 710.1

OTHER ASSETS - Net 11 180.9 156.7 127.0 482.9 315.3 100.9

TOTAL ASSETS P 15,288.4 P 13,010.7 P 10,366.9 P 14,757.3 P 11,670.1 P 9,328.5

LIABILITIES AND 

EQUITY

BILLS PAYABLE 12 P 7,666.2 P 6,143.0 P 3,681.6 P 7,633.9 P 5,263.5 P 3,093.6

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

AND OTHER 

LIABILITIES 13 104.7 92.4 112.8 99.1 89.1 80.2

INCOME TAX PAYABLE 29.7 73.5 8.9 29.7 73.5 0.2

DIVIDENDS PAYABLE 15 216.2 - - 216.2 - -

LEASE DEPOSITS 14 2,617.7 2,301.9 2,025.5 2,254.3 1,974.1 1,742.8

DEFERRED TAX 

LIABILITY - Net 20 88.1 64.8 70.5 95.9 70.1 77.4

Total Liabilities 

(Carried Forward) P 10,722.6 P 8,675.6 P 5,899.3 P 10,329.1 P 7,470.3 P 4,994.2

Statements of Financial Position

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)
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Statements of Financial Position

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Group Parent Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

(As Restated) (As Restated) (As Restated) (As Restated)

Notes 2010 - Note 15) - Note 15) 2010 - Note 15) - Note 15)

Total Liabilities 

(Brought Forward) P 10,722.6 P 8,675.6 P 5,899.3 P 10,329.1 P 7,470.3 P 4,994.2

CAPITAL STOCK 15 2,225.2 2,225.2 2,225.2 2,225.2 2,225.2 2,225.2

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN 

CAPITAL 571.1 571.1 571.1 571.1 571.1 571.1

TREASURY SHARES ( 81.8) ( 81.8) ( 81.8) ( 81.8) ( 81.8) ( 81.8)

RETAINED EARNINGS 1,605.2 1,620.9 1,753.4 1,467.6 1,485.6 1,620.1

UNREALIZED FAIR 

VALUE GAIN (LOSS)

ON AVAILABLE-FOR-

SALE FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 7 246.1 ( 0.3) ( 0.3) 246.1 ( 0.3) ( 0.3)

Total Equity 4,565.8 4,335.1 4,467.6 4,428.2 4,199.8 4,334.3

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

AND EQUITY P 15,288.4 P 13,010.7 P 10,366.9 P 14,757.3 P 11,670.1 P 9,328.5
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Group Parent Company

Notes  2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

REVENUES

Interest and discounts 8 P 1,028.8 P 865.1 P 1,012.5 P 1,027.2 P 892.5 P 1,018.5

Rent 17 830.9 1,125.7 256.4 - - -

Service fees and 

other income 16 178.3 218.9 99.6 157.6 187.5 50.6

2,038.0 2,209.7 1,368.5 1,184.8 1,080.0 1,069.1

OPERATING COSTS 

AND EXPENSES

Occupancy and 

equipment-related 

expenses 9, 10, 11 868.9 1,089.1 221.2 69.3 55.6 48.5

Interest and 

financing charges 12, 14 330.9 281.4 284.5 299.6 206.5 255.2

Employee benefits 18 134.1 133.9 114.3 134.1 133.9 114.3

Taxes and licenses 20 112.8 92.3 80.7 104.1 85.5 78.3

Impairment and 

credit losses 8 104.2 94.5 75.0 104.2 94.5 75.0

Litigation/assets 

acquired expenses 28.4 23.8 26.6 28.4 23.8 26.6

Others 50.1 40.3 35.6 50.1 39.8 32.7

1,629.4 1,755.3 837.9 789.8 639.6 630.6

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 408.6 454.4 530.6 395.0 440.4 438.5

TAX EXPENSE 20 99.9 154.4 165.0 88.6 142.3 145.8

NET PROFIT 308.7 300.0 365.6 306.4 298.1 292.7

OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME

Unrealized fair value gain

on available-for-sale 

securities, net of tax 246.4 - - 246.4 - -

TOTAL 

COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME P 555.1 P 300.0 P 365.6 P 552.8 P 298.1 P 292.7

Basic / Diluted 

Earnings Per Share 21 P 0.14 P 0.14 P 0.17 P 0.14 P 0.14 P 0.14

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos, Except Per Share Data)
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Group

Unrealized

Treasury Fair Value

Shares, Retained Gain (Loss) 

 Additional At Cost -  Earnings on Available- Net Equity

Capital Paid-in 62,693,718 (As Restated) for-Sale (As Restated)

Note Stock Capital Shares  - Note 15) Securities - Note 15) 

Balance at January 1, 2010 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,620.9 (P 0.3) P 4,335.1

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 308.7 246.4 555.1

Cash dividends 15  -  -  -  ( 324.4) - ( 324.4)

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2010 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,605.2 P 246.1 P 4,565.8

Balance at January 1, 2009 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8)  P 1,753.4 (P 0.3)  P 4,467.6

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 300.0 - 300.0

Cash dividends 15 - - - ( 432.5) - ( 432.5)

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2009 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,620.9 (P 0.3) P 4,335.1

Balance at January 1, 2008 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,387.8 (P 0.3) P 4,102.0

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 365.6 - 365.6

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2008 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,753.4 (P 0.3) P 4,467.6

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)
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Parent Company

Unrealized

Treasury Fair Value

Shares, Retained Gain (Loss) 

 Additional At Cost -  Earnings on Available- Net Equity

Capital Paid-in 62,693,718 (As Restated) for-Sale (As Restated)

Note Stock Capital Shares  - Note 15) Securities - Note 15) 

Balance at January 1, 2010 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,485.6 (P 0.3) P 4,199.8

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 306.4 246.4 552.8

Cash dividends 15  -  -  -  ( 324.4) - ( 324.4)

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2010 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,467.6 P 246.1 P 4,428.2

Balance at January 1, 2009 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8)  P 1,620.1 (P 0.3)  P 4,334.3

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 298.0 - 298.0

Cash dividends 15 - - - ( 432.5) - ( 432.5)

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2009 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,485.6 (P 0.3) P 4,199.8

Balance at January 1, 2008 

as restated 15 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,327.4 (P 0.3) P 4,041.6

Total comprehensive 

income - - - 292.7 - 292.7

BALANCE AT 

DECEMBER 31, 2008 P 2,225.2 P 571.1 (P 81.8) P 1,620.1 (P 0.3) P 4,334.3

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)
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Group Parent Company

Notes 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS 

FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax P 408.6 P 454.4 P 530.6 P 395.0 P 440.4 P 438.5

Adjustments for:

Interest income 8 ( 1,028.8) ( 864.9) ( 1,012.5) ( 1,027.2) ( 892.5) ( 1,018.5)

Interest received 1,001.6  891.3 1,014.1 999.2 891.1 957.9

Interest and 

financing charges 12, 14 330.9 275.6 284.5 299.6 206.5 255.2

Interest and 

financing charges paid ( 331.8) ( 285.7) ( 283.2) ( 300.7) ( 208.4) ( 171.2)

Depreciation and 

amortization 9, 10, 11 835.8 1,064.6 195.8 36.2 31.1 23.4

Impairment and 

credit losses 8, 11 104.2 94.5 75.0 104.2 94.5 75.0

Fair value loss (gain) ( 1.9) ( 69.9) ( 51.1) 0.6 ( 62.2) ( 1.5)

Gain on sale of 

investment properties 10 ( 12.4) ( 7.2) ( 3.9) ( 12.4) ( 7.2) ( 3.9)

Loss (gain) on sale of 

property and equipment 9 ( 0.7) ( 10.7) 0.1 - -  0.1

Operating profit before 

changes in operating

assets and liabilities 1,305.5  1,542.0 749.4 494.5 493.3 555.0

Decrease (increase) 

in loans and other 

receivables ( 2,888.2) ( 1,545.1) 391.5 ( 2,907.9) ( 897.6) ( 199.1)

Increase in other assets ( 35.5) ( 57.3) ( 89.1) ( 16.2)  ( 27.6) ( 26.9)

Increase (decrease) in 

accounts payable and 

other liabilities 340.0 ( 12.0) 75.2 312.4  46.3 ( 49.9)

Increase in lease 

deposits 281.4 316.4 489.9 269.0 260.0 192.8

Cash generated from 

(used in) operations ( 996.8) 244.0 1,616.9 ( 1,848.2) ( 125.6) 471.9

Cash paid for income tax ( 128.0) ( 86.1) ( 231.4) ( 114.2) ( 76.3) ( 212.8)

Net Cash From (Used in)

Operating Activities 

(Carried Forward) (P 1,124.8) P 157.9 P 1,385.5 (P 1,962.4) (P 201.9) P 259.1

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)
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Group Parent Company
Notes 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Net Cash From (Used in)
Operating Activities 
(Brought Forward) (P 1,124.8) P 157.9 P 1,385.5 (P 1,962.4) (P 201.9) P 259.1

CASH FLOWS 
FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of property

and equipment 8 ( 223.2) ( 847.5) ( 1,525.6) ( 11.8) ( 14.6) ( 14.0)
Proceeds from disposal 

of available-for-sale 
financial assets 7 30.5 - - 30.5 - -

Net decrease (increase) 
in investment properties 10 25.1  ( 19.1) ( 50.1) 25.1 ( 19.1) ( 50.1)

Proceeds from disposal 
of property and 
equipment 8 5.3 25.9 8.5 - - 1.9

Acquisition of available-
for-sale financial assets 7 - ( 1,299.8) - - ( 1,299.8) -

Additional investment 
in a subsidiary 11 -  - - ( 162.5) ( 197.5) ( 6.9)

Net Cash Used in 
Investing Activities ( 162.3) ( 2,140.5) ( 1,567.2) ( 118.7) ( 1,531.0) ( 69.1)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Availments of bills 
payable 18,123.8 32,503.1 7,638.0 16,298.6 26,352.1 6,240.2

Payments of bills 
payable ( 16,889.1) ( 30,041.7) ( 7,480.4) ( 14,216.6) ( 24,182.2) ( 6,463.0)

Payments of cash 
dividends 15 ( 108.1) ( 432.5) - ( 108.1 ) ( 432.5) -

Net Cash From (Used in) 
Financing Activities 1,126.6 2,028.9 157.6 1,973.9 1,737.4 ( 222.8)

NET INCREASE 
(DECREASE) IN 
CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS ( 160.5) 46.3 ( 24.1) ( 107.2) 4.5 ( 32.8)

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT 
BEGINNING OF YEAR 232.4 186.1 210.2 176.4 171.9 204.7

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT 
END OF YEAR 6 P 71.9 P 232.4 P 186.1 P 69.2 P 176.4 P 171.9

Supplemental Information on Non-cash Investing Activities

The following are the noncash investing activities that relate to the analysis of the statements of cash flows:

a.  Additions to investment properties in settlement of loans and receivables amounted to P31.5, P38.6 and P114.7 in 2010, 

2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 10, page 52).

b.  Additions to repossessed chattels and other equipment in settlement of loans and other receivables amounted to P43.0, 

P6.1 and P28.9 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 11, page 54).

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)
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1. CORPORATE MATTERS

1.1 Incorporation and Operations

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDO Leasing or the Parent Company) is a domestic corporation incorporated in 1981 

and listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE) on January 6, 1997.  The Parent Company operates as a leasing 

and financing entity which provides direct leases, sale and leaseback arrangements and real estate leases.  Financing 

products include amortized commercial and consumer loans, installment paper purchases, receivables discounting and 

factoring.

The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank or the “Ultimate Parent Company”), 

an expanded commercial bank incorporated and doing business in the Philippines.  

BDO Rental, Inc. (BDO Rental), a wholly-owned subsidiary of BDO Leasing, is licensed by the Philippine Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) to engage in renting and leasing of equipment.  It started its commercial operations on 

June 30, 2005.

The Parent Company’s principal office is located at BDO Leasing Centre, Corinthian Gardens, Ortigas Avenue, Quezon 

City.  It has nine branches located in the cities of Makati, Cebu, Davao, Dagupan, San Pablo, Cagayan de Oro, Iloilo, 

Pampanga and Cavite.  The registered address of BDO Unibank is located at BDO Corporate Center, 7899 Makati Avenue, 

Makati City.

 

1.2 Approval of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of BDO Leasing and BDO Rental (the “Group”) and of the Parent Company for 

the year ended December 31, 2010 (including the comparatives for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008) were 

authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 2, 2011.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized 

in the succeeding sections.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 

stated.

 

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the 

pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS for each type of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting 

policies that follow.

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 1 (Revised 2007), 

Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Group presents all items of income and expenses in a single statement 

of comprehensive income.  Two comparative periods are presented for the statement of financial position when 

the Group applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial 

statements, or reclassifies items in the financial statements.

In 2010, two comparative periods are presented for the statement of financial position due to the prior period 

adjustments as disclosed in Note 15.3.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Group’s functional and presentation currency, 

and all values represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated.  

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using its functional currency. Functional 

currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.

2.2 Adoption of New Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to PFRS 

(a) Effective in 2010 that are Relevant to the Group

In 2010, the Group adopted the following revisions, interpretations and annual improvements to existing standards 

that are relevant to the Company and effective for financial statements for the annual period beginning on or after 

January 1, 2010.

PAS 27 (Revised 2008) : Consolidated and Separate Financial 

  Statements

Philippine Interpretation

International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) 17 : Distribution of Non-cash Assets to 

  Owners

Various Standards : 2009 Annual Improvements to PFRS

Discussed below are relevant information about these new and amended standards. 

(i) P AS 27 (Revised 2008), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective from July 1, 2009).  The 

revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in 

equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains 

and losses.  The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost.  Any remaining interest in 

the equity is re-measured to fair value and a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  The adoption of 

the standard did not result in any adjustment to the financial statements as there were no non-controlling 

interests in the Group.

(ii)  Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective from July 1, 2009).  

IFRIC 17 clarifies that dividend payable should be recognized when the dividend is appropriately authorized 

and is no longer at the discretion of the entity.  Also, an entity should measure the dividend payable at the 

fair value of the net assets to be distributed and the difference between the dividend paid and the carrying 

amount of the net assets distributed should be recognized in profit or loss.  The Group’s adoption of this 

interpretation did not have a material impact on the financial statements because retrospective application 

of this interpretation is not permitted and, therefore, did not have any effect on any previous distribution of 

non-cash assets to stockholders.  In addition, the Group did not distribute non-cash assets to stockholders 

during the year.

(iii)  2009 Annual Improvements to PFRS.  The FRSC has adopted the 2009 Improvements to International 

Financial Reporting Standards.  Most of these amendments became effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after  July 1, 2009, or January 1, 2010.  Among those improvements, only the following amendments 

were identified to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements but which did not also have any material 

impact on its financial statements:

•	 	PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from January 1, 2010).  The 

amendment clarifies the current and non-current classification of a liability that can, at the option of 

the counterparty, be settled by the issue of the entity’s equity instruments.  

•	 	PAS 7 (Amendment), Statement of Cash Flows (effective from January 1, 2010).  This amendment 

states explicitly that only an expenditure that results in a recognized asset can be classified as a cash 

flow from investing activities.  Under its current policies, only recognized assets are classified by the 

Group as cash flow from investing activities.  

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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•	 	PAS 17 (Amendment), Leases (effective from January 1, 2010).  The amendment clarifies that when a lease 

includes both land and building elements, an entity assesses the classification of each element as finance 

or an operating lease separately in accordance with the general guidance on lease classification set out in  

PAS 17.  

•	 . PAS 18 (Amendment), Revenue.  The amendment provides guidance on determining whether an entity is 

acting as a principal or as an agent.  Presently, the Group is the principal in all of its business undertakings.

•	 	PFRS 8 (Amendment), Operating Segments (effective from January 1, 2010).  The amendment requires 

an entity to disclose a measure of segment assets only if that measure is regularly reported to the chief 

operating decision maker.  Currently, the Group’s policy on segment reporting is in compliance with the 

amendment.

(b) Effective in 2010 but not Relevant to the Group

The following amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2010 but are not relevant to the Group’s operations:

PFRS 1 (Amendment) : Additional Exemptions for First-time 

  Adopters

PFRS 2 (Amendment) : Company Cash-settled Share-based

  Payment Transactions

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 9 : Embedded Derivatives – Amendments 

  to IFRIC 9 and PAS 39

IFRIC 16 : Hedges of a Net Investment 

  in a Foreign Operation

IFRIC 18 : Transfers of Assets from Customers

(c) Effective Subsequent to 2010

There are new PFRS, revisions, amendments, annual improvements and interpretations to existing standards that 

are effective for periods subsequent to 2010.  Management has initially determined the following pronouncements, 

which the Company will apply in accordance with their transitional provisions, to be relevant to its financial 

statements.

PAS 24 (Amendment) : Related Party Disclosures

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 14 : Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

  Requirement – Amendment to 

  IFRIC 14

IFRIC 19 : Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 

  Equity Instruments

PFRS 7 (Amendment) : Financial Instruments: Disclosures

PFRS 9 : Financial Instruments

Various Standards : 2010 Annual Improvements to PFRS

Below is a discussion of the possible impact of these new accounting standards.

(i)  PAS 24 (Revised), Related Party Disclosures (effective from January 1, 2011). Earlier application of the 

standard, in whole or in part, is permitted but the Group opted not to early adopt the standard.  The 

revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes the requirement 

for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other 

government-related entities.  The Group is currently reviewing the impact of the standard on its related 

party disclosures in time for its adoption of the revised standard in 2011.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)

Notes to Financial Statements



24

We find ways

(ii)  Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement – Amendment to 

IFRIC 14 (effective from January 1, 2011).  This interpretation addresses unintended consequences that 

can arise from the previous requirements when an entity prepays future contributions into a defined 

benefit pension plan.  It sets out guidance on when an entity recognizes an asset in relation to a PAS 19, 

Employee Benefits, surplus for defined benefit plans that are subject to a minimum funding requirement.  

Management does not expect that its future adoption of the amendment will have a material effect on its 

financial statements because it does not usually make substantial advance contributions to its retirement 

fund.

(iii)  Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective 

on or after July 1, 2010).  It addresses accounting by an entity when the terms of a financial liability are 

renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the 

financial liability.  These transactions are sometimes referred to as “debt for equity” exchanges or swaps.  

The interpretation requires the debtor to account for a financial liability which is extinguished by equity 

instruments as follows:

•	 	the issue of the equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all (or part of a financial liability) 

is consideration paid in accordance with PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement;

•	 	the entity measures the equity instrument issued at fair value, unless this cannot be reliably 

measured;

•	 	if the fair value of the equity instruments cannot be reliably measured, then the fair value of the 

financial liability extinguished is used; and,

•	 	the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the 

consideration paid is the recognized profit or loss.

Management has determined that the adoption of the interpretation does not have a material effect on its 

2010 financial statements as the Group does not normally extinguish financial liabilities through equity 

swap.

(iv)  PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after July 1, 2011).  The amendments will allow users of financial statements to improve their understanding 

of transfer transactions of financial assets (e.g., securitizations), including understanding the possible 

effects of any risks that may remain with the entity that transferred the assets.  The amendments also 

require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are undertaken at the 

end of a reporting period.  The Group believes that adoption of the amendments in 2012 will not have any 

significant effect on its financial statements as they only affect disclosures and the Group usually provides 

adequate information in its financial statements in compliance with disclosure requirements.

(v)  PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (effective from January 1, 2013).  PAS 39 will be replaced by PFRS 9 in 

its entirety which is being issued in phases.  The main phases are (with a separate project dealing with 

derecognition):

•	 Phase 1:  Classification and Measurement

•	 Phase 2:  Impairment Methodology

•	 Phase 3:  Hedge Accounting

To date, the chapters dealing with recognition, classification, measurement and derecognition of financial 

assets and liabilities have been issued.  These chapters are effective for annual periods beginning  

January 1, 2013.  Other chapters dealing with impairment methodology and hedge accounting are still 

being developed.

Management is yet to assess the impact that this amendment is likely to have on the financial statements 

of the Group.  However, it does not expect to implement the amendments until all chapters of PFRS 9 have 

been published at which time the Group expects it can comprehensively assess the impact of the revised 

standard.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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(vi)  2010 Annual Improvements to PFRS.  The FRSC has adopted the 2010 Improvements to Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards (the 2010 Improvements).  Most of these amendments became effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010, or January 1, 2010.  The 2010 Improvements amend certain 

provisions of PFRS 3 (Revised 2008), clarify presentation of the reconciliation of each of the components 

of other comprehensive income and clarify certain disclosure requirements for financial instruments.  The 

Group’s preliminary assessments indicate that the 2010 Improvements will not have a material impact on 

its financial statements.

2.3 Separate Consolidated Financial Statements and Basis of Consolidation

These financial statements are prepared as the Group’s separate consolidated financial statements from BDO Unibank 

Group.  The Group presents separate consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with PFRS 

since the Parent Company’s equity securities are traded in a public market.

The Group obtains and exercises control through voting rights.  The Group’s financial statements comprise the accounts 

of the Parent Company and its subsidiary, after the elimination of material intercompany transactions.  All intercompany 

balances and transactions with its subsidiary, including income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full.  

Unrealized profits and losses from intercompany transactions, if any, that are recognized in assets are also eliminated in 

full.  Intercompany losses that indicate an impairment are recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group, using consistent 

accounting principles.  

 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to control the former’s financial and operating policies 

generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential 

voting rights that are currently exercisable and convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls 

another entity.  A subsidiary is consolidated from the date the Group obtains control until such time that such control 

ceases.  

The acquisition method is applied to account for acquired subsidiaries.  This requires recognizing and measuring the 

identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  The consideration 

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the 

equity interests issued by the Group, if any.  The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or 

liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and 

subsequent change in the fair value of contingent consideration is recognized directly in profit or loss.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any 

non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-

date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net 

assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.  If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in 

the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss as gain.

The results of subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year, if any, are included in profit or loss from the date of 

acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.  

2.4 Segment Reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject 

to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  The Group’s operating businesses are 

organized and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment 

representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Group’s chief 

operating decision-maker.  The strategic steering committee is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments.

Notes to Financial Statements
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In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s products and services as disclosed in 

Note 4, which represent the main products and services provided by the Group.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines requires different technologies 

and other resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under PFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial 

statements, except that the following are not included in arriving at the operating profit of the operating segments:

•	 post-employment benefit expenses;

•	 expenses relating to share-based payments;

•	 research costs relating to new business activities; and,

•	 revenue, costs and fair value gains from investment property.

In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are 

not allocated to a segment.

There have been no changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported segment profit 

or loss.

 

2.5 Financial Assets

Financial assets, which are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual terms of the financial instrument, 

include cash and cash equivalents, and other financial instruments.  Financial assets are classified into the following 

categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and 

available-for-sale financial assets.  Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial 

recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  

Except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at every 

reporting date at which date a choice of classification or accounting treatment is available, subject to compliance with 

specific provisions of applicable accounting standards.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  All financial assets that are not 

classified as at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction costs.  Financial 

assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed 

in profit or loss.  

The foregoing categories of financial instruments relevant to the Group are more fully described below.

(a) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to the debtor with no 

intention of trading the receivables.  

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 

impairment losses.  Any change in their value is recognized in profit or loss, except for changes in fair values 

of reclassified financial assets under PAS 39 and PFRS 7 (Amendments).  Increases in estimates of future cash 

receipts from such financial assets shall be recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate from the date 

of the change in estimate rather than as an adjustment to the carrying amounts of the financial assets at the date 

of the change in estimate.  

Impairment losses is the estimated amount of losses in the Group’s loan portfolio, based on the evaluation of the 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.  Impairment loss is provided 

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with 

the original terms of the receivables.  Loans and receivables are written off against the allowance for impairment 

losses when management believes that the collectibility of the principal is unlikely.
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The Group’s financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are presented as Cash and Cash Equivalents and 

Loans and Other Receivables in the statement of financial position.  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 

hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

(b) Available-for-sale Financial Assets

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify 

for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.

All financial assets within this category are measured at fair value, unless otherwise disclosed, with changes in 

value recognized in other comprehensive income, net of taxes.  Gains and losses arising from securities classified 

as available-for-sale are recognized in other comprehensive income when these are sold or when the investment 

is impaired.  

In case of impairment, any loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to other comprehensive income.  

Losses recognized in other comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through other 

comprehensive income.  Losses recognized in prior period statement of comprehensive income resulting from 

the impairment of debt instruments are reversed through the statement of comprehensive income, when there is 

recovery in the amount of previously recognized impairment losses.

Available-for-sale Financial Assets are presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

Impairment losses recognized on financial assets are included as part of Impairment and Credit Losses under Operating 

Costs and Expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to stock 

exchange-quoted market bid prices at the close of business on each reporting date.  For investments where there is no 

quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is 

substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows (such as dividend income) of the underlying net 

asset base of the investment.

Non-compounding interest, dividend income and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized 

in profit or loss when earned, regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.  

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire or are 

transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. 

2.6 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 

impairment in value.  

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition 

for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, major improvements and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for 

repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, 

their cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment losses are removed from the 

accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in profit or loss for the period.

Except for certain equipment which are depreciated based on the rate of utilization, depreciation is computed on the 

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets as follows:

Transportation and other equipment  2-8 years

Furniture, fixtures and others  3-5 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the leases or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, 

whichever is shorter.
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.17).

 

The residual values and estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at 

the end of each reporting period.

An item of property and equipment, including the related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any, is 

derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the 

asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period the item is derecognized.

2.7 Investment Properties

Investment properties are stated at cost.  The cost of an investment property comprises its purchase price and directly 

attributable cost incurred.  This also includes properties acquired by the Group from defaulting borrowers not held for 

sale in the next twelve months.  For these assets, the cost is recognized initially at the fair market value.  Investment 

properties except land are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 10 years.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

in value.

The Group adopted the cost model in measuring its investment properties, hence, these are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment in value.  Depreciation and impairment loss are recognized in the same manner as in 

Property and Equipment.

Investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 

benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognized 

in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

2.8 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Group include bills payable, accounts payable, dividends payable and other liabilities and lease 

deposits, which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument.  All 

interest-related charges are included as part of Interest and Financing Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in 

the statement of comprehensive income.

Bills payable are raised for support of long-term funding of operations.  They are recognized at proceeds received, net of 

direct issue costs.  Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are 

charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of 

the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Accounts payable and other liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 

cost less settlement payments.

Lease deposits are initially recognized at fair value.  The excess of the principal amount of the deposits over its fair value 

is immediately recognized and is included as part of Fair Value Gains under Service Fees and Other Income account in 

the statement of comprehensive income (see Note 16).  Meanwhile, interest expense on the lease deposits is accrued 

using the effective interest method and is included as part of Interest and Financing Charges under Operating Costs and 

Expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only when the obligations are extinguished 

either through discharge, cancellation or expiration.

2.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and these can 

be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from 

the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events.
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Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable 

evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 

obligation.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 

is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  When time value of money is material, long-term 

provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate that reflects market assessments and the risks 

specific to the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 

best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable 

or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial 

statements. Similarly, possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria 

of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.  On the other hand, 

any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is 

recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision.

2.10 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there 

is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize 

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Residual Value of Leased Assets 

The residual value of leased assets, which approximates the amount of lease deposit paid by the lessee at the inception 

of the lease, is the estimated proceeds from the disposal of the leased asset at the end of the lease term.  At the end of the 

lease term, the residual value receivable of the leased asset is generally applied against the lease deposit of the lessee.

2.12 Equity

Common stock represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Additional paid-in capital includes any premiums received on the issuance of capital stock.  Any transaction costs 

associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional paid-in capital.

Treasury shares are stated at the cost of reacquiring such shares.

Unrealized fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets pertains to cumulative mark-to-market valuation of 

available-for-sale financial assets. 

Retained earnings include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.13 Revenue and Expense Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria of income and expenses must also be met before 

revenue is recognized:

(a)  Interest income on finance lease receivables – The interest income on finance lease is allocated over the lease 

term on a systematic and rational basis.  The recognition of interest income on finance lease is based on a pattern 

reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the finance lease.  Lease payments 

relating to the period, excluding costs for services, are applied against the gross investment in the lease to reduce 

both the principal and the unearned finance income. 

(b)  Interest – Interest income and expenses are recognized in profit or loss for all instruments measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 

and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 

instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 

liability.  When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual 

terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes all fees paid 

or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 

and all other premiums or discounts. 

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment 

loss, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose 

of measuring the impairment loss.

(c)  Rent – Revenue is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term, or on another systematic 

basis which is more representative of the time pattern in which the use or benefit derived from the leased asset is 

diminished.

(d)  Service fees – Fees related to the administration and servicing a loan are recognized as revenue as the services are 

rendered.  

Operating costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets or services or at the date they 

are incurred. 

2.14 Leases

The Group accounts for its leases as follows:

i. Group as Lessor

Finance leases, where the Group transfers substantially all the risk and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 

item to the lessee, are included in the statements of financial position under Loans and Other Receivables account.  

A lease receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.  The difference between the 

gross lease receivable and the net investment in the lease is recognized as unearned finance income.

All income resulting from the receivable is included as part of Interest and Discounts in the statement of 

comprehensive income.  Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risk and benefits of 

ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 

and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as 

revenue in the year in which they are earned.

ii. Group as Lessee 

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 

classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.  

It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset 

or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

2.15 Foreign Currency Transactions

The accounting records of the Group are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign currency transactions during the 

period are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction 

dates.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at  

period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 

statement of comprehensive income as part of profit or loss from operations.
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2.16  Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 

group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses 

are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 

the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention 

of the Group about certain loss events, including, among others: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; a 

breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; it is probable that the borrower will 

enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because 

of financial difficulties; or, observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 

identified with the individual financial assets in the group.

(a)  Assets carried at amortized cost.  The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 

individually for financial assets that are individually significant and individually or collectively for financial assets 

that are not individually significant.  If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for 

an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the Group includes the asset in a group of 

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be 

recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and other receivables or held-to-maturity investments 

carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 

interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 

amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.  

If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment 

loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. When practicable, the Group may measure 

impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects 

the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not 

foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit 

risk characteristics.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such 

assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the 

assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated 

on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 

characteristics similar to those in the group.

Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 

conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects 

of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be consistent with changes in 

related observable data from period to period.  The methodologies and assumptions used for estimating future 

cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 

experience.
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When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment.  Such loans are 

written off after all the necessary procedures including approval from the management and the BOD has been 

completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 

off decrease the amount of the impairment loss in profit or loss.  

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decrease and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), 

the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the 

reversal is recognized in profit or loss.

(b)  Assets carried at fair value with changes charged to other comprehensive income.  In the case of investments 

classified as available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 

below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for 

available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 

and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or  

loss – is removed from profit or loss and recognized in other comprehensive income.  Impairment losses recognized 

in other comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through other comprehensive income.  

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the 

increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, 

the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

(c)  Assets carried at cost.  The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective 

evidence that any of the unquoted equity securities and derivative assets linked to and required to be settled in 

such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost and for which objective evidence of impairment 

exist.  The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the equity security and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.  

Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.17 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Group’s property and equipment, investment properties and other assets are subject to impairment testing.  

For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 

cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested 

at cash-generating unit level.  

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds 

its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell 

and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation.  Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other 

assets in the cash generating unit.  

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist 

and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment 

loss.

2.18 Employee Benefits

(a) Retirement Benefit Obligations 

Pension benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan.  A defined benefit plan is a pension 

plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on 

one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of 

pension plan remains with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired.  

Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance 

policies.  The Group’s defined benefit pension plan covers all regular full-time employees.  The pension plan is 

tax-qualified, noncontributory and administered by a trustee.
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The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit pension plans is the present value 

of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the end of each reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, together 

with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past-service costs.  The DBO is calculated annually 

by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the DBO is determined 

by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are 

denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to 

the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an income or expense unless the total unrecognized gain or loss 

exceeds 10% of the greater of the obligation and related plan assets.  The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is 

charged or credited to profit or loss over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial 

gains and losses within the 10% corridor are disclosed separately.  Past-service costs are recognized immediately in 

the statement of comprehensive income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees 

remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past-service costs are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into an independent 

entity (such as the Social Security System).  The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 

contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined 

contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities and assets may be recognized if underpayment or 

prepayment has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a short 

term nature.

(b) Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, 

or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Group recognizes 

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: (a) terminating the employment of current 

employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or (b) providing termination 

benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 

after the end of each reporting period are discounted to present value.

(c) Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining 

at the end of each reporting period.  They are included in Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account at the 

undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

2.19 Income Taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or 

prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting period.  They are calculated according 

to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the 

period.  All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between 

the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 

differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of 

unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 

the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is probable 

that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

end of each reporting period.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.  Only 

changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2.20 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common 

shares subscribed and issued during the year, adjusted retroactively for any stock dividend, stock split or reverse stock 

split declared during the current period.  The Group does not have dilutive common shares.

2.21 Related Party Transactions  

Related party transactions are transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group and its related parties, 

regardless whether a price is charged.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence 

over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  This includes: (a) individuals owning, directly or 

indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Group; 

(b) associates; and, (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives 

them significant influence over the Group and close members of the family of any such individual.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not 

merely on the legal form.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The Group’s financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require management to make judgments and 

estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are 

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart 

from those involving estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 

statements:

(a) Operating and Finance Leases

The Group has determined that it has transferred all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties 

which are leased out on finance lease arrangements.  Interest earned on finance lease arrangements amounted to 

P440.1, P399.0 and P455.6 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 8).

The subsidiary’s operations involve operating leases.  The Group has determined that it retains all the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership over the properties which are leased out on operating lease arrangements.  The 

Group’s rent income on operating lease arrangements amounted to P830.9, P1,125.7 and P256.4 in 2010, 2009 and 

2008, respectively (see Note 17).

The Group has entered in various lease arrangements as a lessee.  Critical judgment was exercised by management 

to distinguish each lease arrangement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention 

of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the agreements.
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Rental expense charged to operations included as part of Occupancy and Equipment-Related Expenses under 

Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of comprehensive income amounted to P17.8 in 2010, P16.1 in 

2009 and P13.6 in 2008 in the Group and Parent Company financial statements. 

(b) Distinction Between Investment Properties and Owner-managed Properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property.  In making its judgment, the Group 

considers whether the property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity.  

Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only to the property but also to other 

assets used in the production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation and another portion 

that is held for use in the production and supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes.  If these 

portion can be sold separately (or leased out separately under finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions 

separately.  If the portion cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted for as investment property only 

if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 

purposes.  Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does 

not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

(c) Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  Policies on 

recognition and disclosure of provision and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in Note 2.9 and relevant 

disclosures are presented in Note 22.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 

of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Useful Lives of Property and Equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period over which the assets are 

expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed periodically 

and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or 

commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  The carrying amounts of property 

and equipment are analyzed in Note 9.  Based on management’s assessment as of December 31, 2010, there is no 

change in estimated useful lives of property and equipment during the year.  Actual results, however, may vary 

due to changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  As also disclosed in Note 2.7, 

except for certain equipment which are depreciated based on the rate of utilization, depreciation is computed on 

the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets as follows:

Transportation and other equipment 2-8 years

Furniture, fixtures and others 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the leases or the estimated useful lives of the 

improvements, whichever is shorter.  

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, amounted to P856.9, P1,452.5 and 

P1,649.7 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, in the Group financial statements and P17.9, P20.3 

and P15.2 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, in the Parent Company financial statements (see 

Note 9).

(b) Allowance for Impairment of Loans and Other Receivables

Allowance is made for specific and groups of accounts, where objective evidence of impairment exists.  The Group 

evaluates these accounts based on available facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, the length 

of the Group’s relationship with the customers, the customers’ current credit status based on third party credit 

reports and known market forces, average age of accounts, collection experience and historical loss experience.
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Impairment losses on loans and other receivables amounted to P99.0 in 2010, P94.5 in 2009 and P75.0 in 2008 in the 

Group and Parent Company financial statements (see Note 8).

(c) Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Group reviews its deferred tax assets at each reporting date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 

asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets recognized gross of deferred tax liabilities, amounted to P93.9, P74.4 (as restated) and P64.3 (as 

restated) as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, in the Group financial statements and P93.9, P74.4 

(as restated) and P59.6 (as restated) as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, in the Parent Company 

financial statements (see Note 20).  The details of the prior period adjustments which resulted to the restatement 

of deferred tax assets are disclosed in Note 15.3.

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed 

when certain impairment indicators are present.  The Group’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-

financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.17.  Though management believes that the assumptions used in the 

estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes 

in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment 

loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

Allowance for impairment losses on investment properties amounted to P71.9, P55.9 and P56.6 as of December 31, 

2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 10).

(e) Retirement and Other Benefits

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is dependent on the 

selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions are described 

in Note 18 and include, among others, discount rates, expected return on plan assets and salary increase rate.  In 

accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future 

periods and therefore, generally affect the expense and obligation to be recognized in such future periods.

The retirement benefit obligation and net unrecognized actuarial losses amounted to P9.9 and P30.5, respectively 

as of 2010, and the retirement benefit obligation and net unrecognized actuarial losses amounted to P13.8 and 

P50.2 respectively in 2009; P14.7 and P27.0, respectively in 2008 (see Note 18).

(f) Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Group adopted the amendments to PFRS 7, Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments, effective 

January 1, 2009.  These amendments require the Group to present certain information about financial instruments 

measured at fair value in the statement of financial position.  In the first year of application, comparative information 

need not be presented for the disclosures required by the amendment.  Accordingly, the disclosure for the fair 

value hierarchy is only presented for December 31, 2010 and 2009.

In accordance with this amendment, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of 

financial position are categorized in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.  This hierarchy groups financial 

assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair value of the 

financial assets and liabilities.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	 	Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the resource or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and,

•	 	Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of 

significant input to the fair value measurement.

As of December 31, 2010, AFS financial assets is the only financial asset (nil for liabilities) measured at fair value 

in the statement of financial position and the value is determined under Level 1.  In 2009, the value is determined 

under Level 2.

The transfer between levels of hierarchy (i.e., from Level 2 to Level 1) in 2010 was due to the listing of the SMC 

shares in December 2010.

The following table summarizes by category the carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and liabilities.  

Where fair value is presented, such fair value is determined based on valuation techniques described below.

2010

Group Parent

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents P 71.9 P 71.9 P 69.2 P 69.2

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,269.8 1,524.4 1,269.8 1,524.4

Loans and other receivables 11,953.0 8,290.1 11,961.6 8,288.1

Bills payable 7,666.2 7,585.4 7,633.9 7,553.8

Accounts payable and other liabilities 104.7 104.7 99.1 99.1

Dividends payable 216.2 216.2 216.2 216.2

Lease deposits 2,617.7 2,617.7 2,254.3 2,254.3

2009

Group Parent

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents P 232.4 P 232.4 P 176.4 P 176.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,300.9 1,300.9 1,300.9 1,300.9

Loans and other receivables 9,142.7 5,743.1 9,131.7 5,732.1

Bills payable 6,143.0 4,579.6 5,263.5 3,704.6

Accounts payable and other liabilities 92.4 92.4 89.1 89.1

Lease deposits 2,301.9 2,301.9 1,974.1 1,974.1

2008

Group Parent

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents P 186.1 P 186.1 P 171.9 P 171.9

Loans and other receivables 7,692.9 5,677.7 8,329.3 6,345.2

Bills payable 3,670.9 3,623.6 3,089.3 3,044.6

Accounts payable and other liabilities 112.8 112.8 80.2 80.2

Lease deposits 2,025.5 2,025.5 1,742.8 1,742.8
 

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments follow:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents approximate carrying amounts given their short-term 

maturities.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is determined by direct reference to published price quoted in 

an active market for traded securities.  
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(iii) Loans and other receivables

The estimated fair value of loans and other receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated 

future cash flow expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to 

determine fair value.

(iv) Bills payable

 

The estimated fair value of bills payable represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows 

expected to be paid.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

(v) Accounts payable and other liabilities

Fair values approximate carrying amounts given the short-term maturities of the liabilities. 

(vi) Lease deposits

Lease deposits are carried at amortized cost which represents the present value.

4. SEGMENT REPORTING

4.1 Business Segments

The Group is organized into different business units based on its products and services for purposes of management 

assessment of each unit.  For management purposes, the Group is organized into three major business segments, namely: 

leasing, financing and others.  These are also the bases of the Group in reporting to its chief operating decision-maker for 

its strategic decision-making activities.

The products under the leasing segment are the following:

•	 Operating leases; and,

•	 Finance leases.

The products under the financing segment are the following:

•	 Amortized commercial loans;

•	 Amortized retail loans;

•	 Installment paper purchases;

•	 Floor stock financing; and,

•	 Factoring of receivables.

The Group’s products and services are marketed in the Metro Manila head office and in its nine branches.

4.2 Segment Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets are allocated based on their use or direct association with a specific segment and they include all operating 

assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating cash, and loans and receivables, net of allowances and 

provisions.  Similar to segment assets, segment liabilities are also allocated based on their use or direct association with 

a specific segment.  Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of accounts, wages, taxes 

currently payable and accrued liabilities.  Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred taxes.

4.3 Intersegment Transactions

There were no intersegment transactions during 2010, 2009 and 2008.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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4.4 Analysis of Segment Information

Segment information can be analyzed as follows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010

Leasing Financing Others Total

Segment revenues P 1,271.0 P 583.9 P 183.1 P 2,038.0

Segment expenses 1,016.2 466.8 146.4 1,629.4

Segment results 254.8 117.1 36.7 408.6

Income tax expense 99.9

Net profit P 308.7

Segment assets P 7,115.2 P 5,546.7 P - P 12,661.9

Unallocated assets 2,625.5

Total assets P 15,288.4

Segment liabilities P 4,606.7 P 3,059.5 P - P 7,666.2

Unallocated liabilities  3,056.4

Total liabilities P 10,722.6

Other segment information:

Capital expenditures P 216.9 P  - P 6.3 P 223.2

Depreciation and amortization 803.9  - 31.9 835.8

Impairment losses 45.5 49.5 4.0 99.0

2009 (As Restated – Note 15)

Leasing Financing Others Total

Segment revenues P 1,524.7 P 454.4 P 230.6 P 2,209.7 

Segment expenses 1,211.1 361.0 183.2 1,755.3

Segment results 313.6 93.4 47.4 454.4

Income tax expense 154.4

Net profit P 300.0

Segment assets P 6,192.6 P 4,298.9 P - P 10,491.5

Unallocated assets 2,519.2

Total assets (as restated) P 13,010.7

Segment liabilities P 4,606.7 P 3,059.5 P - P 7,666.2

Unallocated liabilities 1,009.4

Total liabilities (as restated) P 8,675.6

Other segment information:

Capital expenditures P 835.6 P - P 11.9 P 847.5

Depreciation and amortization 1,037.8 - 26.8 1,064.6

Impairment losses 69.1 25.4 - 94.5
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2008 (As Restated – Note 15)

Leasing Financing Others Total

Segment revenues P 712.0 P 524.9 P 131.6 P 1,368.5

Segment expenses 436.0 321.4 80.5 837.9

Segment results 276.0 203.5 51.1 530.6

Income tax expense 165.0

Net profit P 365.6

Segment assets P  6,355.9 P 2,880.1 P - P 9,236.0

Unallocated assets 1,130.9

Total assets (as restated) P 10,366.9

Segment liabilities P 3,726.2 P 1,970.2 P - P 5,696.4

Unallocated liabilities 202.9

Total liabilities (as restated) P 5,899.3

Other segment information:

Capital expenditures P 1,511.6 P - P 14.0 P 1,525.6

Depreciation and amortization 172.4 - 23.4 195.8

Impairment losses 43.2 31.8 - 75.0

Segment expenses are allocated on the basis of gross income.

Net segment assets are comprised of the following:

2010

Leasing Financing

Receivables P 4,740.3 P 7,602.5

Residual value of leased assets 2,235.5 -

Unearned income ( 699.6) ( 1,695.7)

Client’s equity - ( 129.5)

6,276.2 5,777.3

Allowance for impairment - ( 230.6)

6,276.2 5,546.7

Equipment under lease 839.0 -

P 7,115.2 P 5,546.7

2009 (As Restated – Note 15)

Leasing Financing

Receivables P 3,395.2 P 6,078.0

Residual value of leased assets 1,919.6 -

Unearned income ( 554.4) ( 1,466.1)

Client’s equity - ( 137.4)

4,760.4 4,474.5

Allowance for impairment - ( 175.6)

4,760.4 4,298.9

Equipment under lease 1,432.2 -

P 6,192.6 P 4,298.9

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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2008 (As Restated – Note 15)

Leasing Financing

Receivables P 3,587.1 P 3,643.5

Residual value of leased assets 1,664.8 -

Unearned income ( 526.5) ( 519.9)

Client’s equity - ( 127.3)

4,725.4 3,000.3

Allowance for impairment ( 4.0) ( 120.2)

4,721.4 2,880.1

Equipment under lease 1,634.5 -

P 6,355.9 P 2,880.1

Bills payable to BDO Unibank amounting to P351.0 as of December 31, 2010 and P254.0 as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 

is allocated between the leasing and financing segments based on the carrying amounts of receivables of these segments 

as of December 31, 2008.  Deposits on lease amounting to P2,617.7, P2,301.9 and P2,025.5 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 

and 2008, respectively, are included in the leasing segment.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management of the Company’s credit risks, market risks, liquidity risks and operational risks is an essential part of 

the Company’s organizational structure and philosophy.  The risk management process is essentially a top-down process 

that emanates from the BOD.  The Board approves the overall institutional tolerance risk, including risk policies and risk 

philosophy of the Company.

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risk which results from both its operating and investing activities.  The 

Company’s risk management is coordinated in close cooperation with the BOD, and focuses on actively securing the 

Company’s short-to-medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.

The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options.  The most 

significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described in the succeeding pages.

5.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional currency.  Exposures to currency 

exchange rates on financial assets arise from an insignificant portion of the Parent Company’s leasing and financing 

portfolio, cash and cash equivalents and lease deposits which are denominated in United States (U.S.) dollars.  

The Parent Company’s foreign-currency denominated financial assets and liabilities translated into Philippine pesos at 

the closing rate at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and Philippine peso-denominated financial assets and liabilities as 

of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

2010

US Philippine

Dollar Peso Total

Cash and cash equivalents P 8.8 P 63.1 P 71.9

Loans and other receivables - 11,953.0 11,953.0

Lease deposits 19.7 2,598.0 2,617.7

P 28.5 P 14,614.1 P 14,642.6
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2009

US Philippine

Dollar Peso Total

Cash and cash equivalents P 6.8 P 225.7 P 232.5

Loans and other receivables - 9,142.7 9,142.7

Lease deposits 20.8 2,281.2 2,302.0

P 27.6 P 11,649.6 P 11,677.2

2008

US Philippine

Dollar Peso Total

Cash and cash equivalents P 3.7 P 182.4 P 186.1

Loans and other receivables - 7,692.9 7,692.9

Lease deposits 21.4 2,004.1 2,025.5

P 25.1 P 9,879.4 P 9,904.5

At December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the currency exchange rates used to translate U.S. dollar denominated financial 

assets and liabilities to the Philippine pesos are P43.9, P46.2 and P47.5, respectively.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity with regard to the Group’s financial 

assets and financial liabilities and the U.S. dollar – Philippine peso exchange rate.  It assumes a +/-7.05% change, +/-7.00% 

change and +/-6.57% of the Philippine peso/U.S. dollar exchange rate at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

These percentages have been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 

months.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at the end of each 

reporting period.

If the Philippine peso at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 had strengthened against the U.S. dollar at the foregoing 

volatilities, then this would have the following impact on the Group’s and the Parent Company’s financial statements:

2010 2009 2008

Profit before tax (P 2.0) (P 0.5) (P 0.8)

Equity ( 1.4) ( 0.3) ( 1.2 )

If the Philippine peso at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 had weakened against the U.S. dollar at the foregoing 

volatilities, then this would have the following impact on the Group’s and Parent Company’s financial statements:

2010 2009 2008

Profit before tax P 2.0 P 0.5 P 0.8

Equity 1.4 0.3 1.2

5.2 Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through its bills payable 

and a portion of BDO Leasing’s loans and other receivables, which are subject to periodic interest rate repricing.  All 

other financial assets and liabilities have fixed rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy on managing its assets and liabilities so as to ensure that exposure to fluctuations 

in interest rates are kept within acceptable limits.  The current composition of the Group’s assets and liabilities results 

in significant negative gap positions for repricing periods under one year.  Consequently, the Group is vulnerable to 

increases in market interest rates.  However, in consideration of the substantial net interest margins between the Group’s 

marginal funding cost and its interest-earning assets, and favorable lease and financing terms which allow the Group to 

reprice annually, and to reprice at anytime in response to extraordinary fluctuations in interest rates, the Group believes 

that the adverse impact of any interest rate increase would be limited.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)

Notes to Financial Statements



43

              • 2010 Annual Report

In addition, during periods of declining interest rates, the existence of a negative gap position favorably impacts the 

Group.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible change 

in interest rates for bills payable of +/-7.39% at December 31, 2010, +/-15.43% at December 31, 2009 and +/-5.25% at 

December 31, 2008 to a reasonably possible change in interest rates for loans and other receivables of +/-19.09% at 

December 31, 2010, +/-27.59% at December 31, 2009 and +/-39.55% at December 31, 2008.  These changes are considered 

to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions for the past 12 months.  The calculations 

are based on the Group’s financial instruments held at the end of each reporting period.  All other variables are held 

constant. 

2010

Loans and other receivables +19.09% -19.09%
Bills payable +7.39% -7.39%

Group
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 18.3 (P 18.3)
Equity 12.8 ( 12.8)

Parent Company
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 16.8 (P 16.8)
Equity 11.8 ( 11.8)

2009

Loans and other receivables +27.59% -27.59%
Bills payable +15.43% -15.43%

Group
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 7.8 (P 7.8)
Equity 5.5 ( 5.5)

Parent Company
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 6.9 (P 6.9)
Equity 4.8 ( 4.8)

2008

Loans and other receivables +39.55% -39.55%
Bills payable +5.25% -5.25%

Group
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 6.5 (P 6.5)
Equity 4.2 ( 4.2)

Parent Company
Increase (decrease) in:

Profit before tax P 5.5 (P 5.5)
Equity 3.6 ( 3.6)
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5.3 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 

party to incur a financial loss.  The Group manages credit risk by setting limits for individual borrowers, and groups 

of borrowers and industry segments.  The Group maintains a general policy of avoiding excessive exposure in any 

particular sector of the Philippine economy.

The Group actively seeks to increase its exposure in industry sectors which it believes possess attractive growth 

opportunities.  Conversely, it actively seeks to reduce its exposure in industry sectors where growth potential is 

minimal.  

Although the Group’s leasing and financing portfolio is composed of transactions with a wide variety of businesses, the 

results of operation and financial condition of the Group may be adversely affected by any downturn in these sectors as 

well as in the Philippine economy in general.

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 

geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 

similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 

the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. 

The concentration of credit risk for the Group and the Parent Company follows:

Group

2010

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 71.9 P 1,245.4 P -

Manufacturing - 1,943.3 -

Transportation and communication - 2,460.2 -

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,307.1 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 858.7 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 530.0 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 3,608.3 1,524.4

P 71.9 P 11,953.0 P 1,524.4
 

2009

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 232.4 P 1,007.2 P -

Manufacturing - 1,383.2 -

Transportation and communication - 2,142.6 - 

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,268.3 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 1,296.1 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 344.6 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 1,700.7 1,300.9

P 232.4 P 9,142.7 P 1,300.9
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2008

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 186.1 P 129.7 P -

Manufacturing - 2,240.7 -

Transportation and communication - 1,198.8 -

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,338.3 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 239.7 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 35.1 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 2,510.6 1.1

P 186.1 P 7,692.9 P 1.1

Parent Company

2010

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 69.2 P 1,255.9 P -

Manufacturing - 1,943.3 -

Transportation and communication - 2,460.2 -

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,307.1 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 858.7 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 530.0 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 3,606.4 1,524.4

P 69.2 P 11,961.6 P 1,524.4 

2009

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 176.4 P 1,007.2 P -

Manufacturing - 1,383.2 -

Transportation and communication - 2,142.6 -

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,268.3 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 1,296.1 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 344.6 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 1,689.7 1,300.9

P 176.4 P 9,131.7 P 1,300.9
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2008

Cash and Loans and Available-

Cash Other for-sale

Equivalents Receivables Securities

Concentration by sector:

Financial intermediaries P 171.9 P 129.7 P -

Manufacturing - 2,240.7 -

Transportation and communication - 1,198.8 -

Wholesale and retail trade and personal activities - 1,338.3 -

Real estate, renting and business activities - 897.0 -

Agriculture, fishing and forestry - 35.1 -

Other community, social and personal activities - 2,489.7 1.1

P 171.9 P 8,329.3 P 1.1

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the Group financial statements represents the Group’s maximum 

exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value of any collateral obtained.

2010

Loans and Available- 

Other for-sale

Receivables Securities

Carrying amount P 11,953.0 P 1,524.4

Individually impaired

Grade D: Impaired 302.6 -

Grade E: Impaired 111.2 -

Grade F:  Impaired 122.4 -

Gross amount 536.2 -

Allowance for impairment ( 234.3) -

Carrying amount 301.9  

Past due but not impaired 11.6 -

Grade A

Aging of past due

30-60 days 6.9 -

61-90 days 4.7 -

91-180 days - -

More than 180 days - -

Carrying amount 11.6 -

Neither past due nor impaired

Grade A 11,639.5 1,524.4

Total carrying amount P 11,953.0 P 1,524.4

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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2009

Loans and Available- 

Other for-sale

Receivables Securities

Carrying amount P 9,142.7 P 1,300.9

Individually impaired

Grade D: Impaired 437.4 -

Grade E: Impaired 197.2 -

Grade F:  Impaired 80.8 -

Gross amount 715.4 -

Allowance for impairment ( 175.7) -

Carrying amount 539.7  

Past due but not impaired - -

Grade A

Aging of past due

30-60 days - -

61-90 days - -

91-180 days - -

More than 180 days - -

Carrying amount - -

Neither past due nor impaired

Grade A  8,603.0  1,300.9

Total carrying amount P 9,142.7 P 1,300.9

2008

Loans and Available- 

Other for-sale

Receivables Securities

Carrying amount P 7,692.9 P 1.1

Individually impaired

Grade D: Impaired 196.9 -

Grade E: Impaired 247.5 -

Grade F:  Impaired 45.8 -

Gross amount 490.2 -

Allowance for impairment ( 124.1) -

Carrying amount 366.1 -

Past due but not impaired 144.8 -

Grade A

Aging of past due

30-60 days 0.2 -

61-90 days 2.5 -

91-180 days 90.1 -

More than 180 days 52.0 -

Carrying amount 144.8 -

Neither past due nor impaired

Grade A 7,182.0 1.1

Total carrying amount P 7,692.9 P 1.1

Notes to Financial Statements
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The Group holds collateral against loans and other receivables in the form of mortgage interests over real and personal 

properties.  Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and are 

periodically updated especially when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.  Collateral is not held against available-

for-sale securities, and no such collateral was held at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

The Group holds collateral against loans and other receivables in the form of real and personal properties. An 

estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and other receivables as of  

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is shown below.

2010 2009 2008

Against past due but not impaired

Real property P 142.9 P 98.0 P 54.7

Personal property 522.0 430.8 112.8

Against neither past due but not impaired

Real property 1,104.8 629.0 997.9

Personal property 10,483.8 7,330.7 9,120.1

P 12,253.5 P 8,488.5 P 10,285.5

5.4 Liquidity Risk

The primary business of financing companies entails the borrowing and relending of funds.  Consequently, financing 

companies are subject to substantial leverage, and are therefore exposed to the potential financial risks that accompany 

borrowing.

The Group expects that its continued asset expansion will result in higher funding requirements in the future.  Like most 

financing companies in the Philippines, the Group does not have a license to engage in quasi-banking function, and as 

such, it is precluded from engaging in deposit-taking activities.  In addition, it is precluded under the General Banking 

Act from incurring borrowings from more than 19 lenders at any one time, which to some extent, restricts its access to 

the public debt markets.

The Group believes that it currently has adequate debt funding from banks, other financial institutions, and through the 

issuance of Short-Term Commercial Papers (STCPs).  The Group currently has a license from the SEC to issue P12 billion 

STCPs.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for short-term and 

long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in its day-to-day business.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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Presented below are the financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 analyzed according to 

when these are expected to be recovered or settled.  

2010

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Group

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 71.9 P - P - P - P 71.9

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,524.4 - - - 1,524.4

Loans and other receivables 2,551.6 3,110.3 3,640.5 2,650.6 11,953.0

P 4,147.9 P 3,110.3 P 3,640.5 P 2,650.6 P 13,549.3

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 6,147.4 P 1,246.8 P 17.7 P 254.3 P 7,666.2

Accounts payable and

other liabilities 81.2 8.7 10.7 4.1 104.7

Lease deposits 664.8 517.6 923.0 512.3 2,617.7

P 6,893.4 P 1,773.1 P 951.4  P 770.7 P 10,388.6

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Parent Company

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 69.2 P - P - P - P 69.2

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,524.4 - - - 1,524.4

Loans and other receivables 2,560.1 3,110.3 3,640.5 2,650.6 11,961.6

P 4,153.7 P 3,110.3 P 3,640.5 P 2,650.6 P 13,555.2

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 6,115.1 P 1,246.8 P 17.7 P 254.3 P 7,633.9

Accounts payable and 

other liabilities 76.4 8.7 9.9 4.1 99.1

Lease deposits 354.0 475.3 912.7 512.3 2,254.3

P 6,545.5 P 1,730.8 P 940.3  P 770.7 P 9,987.3

Notes to Financial Statements
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2009

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Group

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 232.4 P - P - P - P 232.4

Loans and other receivables 2,054.6 1,604.5 3,304.7 2,178.9 9,142.7

Other assets 136.7 - - - 136.7

P 2,423.7 P 1,604.5 P 3,304.7 P 2,178.9 P 9,511.8

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 5,461.5 P 300.0 P 54.6 P 326.9 P 6,143.0

Accounts payable and

other liabilities 92.4 - - - 92.4

Lease deposits 377.2 632.9 1,011.8 399.4 2,421.3

P 6,079.7 P 932.9 P 1,066.4  P 726.3 P 8,805.3

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Parent Company

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 176.4 P - P - P - P 176.4

Loans and other receivables 2,043.6 1,604.5 3,304.6 2,178.8 9,131.5

Other assets 317.2 - - - 317.2

P 2,537.2 P 1,604.5 P 3,304.6 P 2,178.8 P 9,625.1

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 4,582.0 P 300.0 P 54.6 P 326.9 P 5,263.5

Accounts payable and 

other liabilities 241.0 - - - 241.0

Lease deposits 375.2 348.5 940.4 399.4 2,063.5

P 5,198.2 P 648.5 P 995.0  P 726.3 P 7,327.0

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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2008

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Group

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 186.1 P - P - P - P 186.1

Loans and other receivables 2,099.9 2,155.0 2,708.5 730.0 7,693.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 1.1 - - - 1.1

P 2,287.1 P 2,155.0 P 2,708.5 P 730.0 P 7,880.6

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 3,136.9 P 544.7 P - P - P 3,681.6

Accounts payable and

other liabilities 158.8 - - 14.7 173.5

Lease deposits 168.7 430.0 1,321.8 223.8 2,144.3

P 3,464.4 P 974.7 P 1,321.8  P 238.5 P 5,999.4

One to Three One to More

Three Months to Three than Three

Months One Year Years Years Total

Parent Company

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents P 171.9 P - P - P - P 171.9

Loans and other receivables 2,501.3 2,389.7 2,708.5 729.8 8,329.3

Available-for-sale financial assets 1.1 - - - 1.1

P 2,674.3 P 2,389.7 P 2,708.5 P 729.8 P 8,502.3

Financial liabilities

Bills payable P 2,549.0 P 544.7 P - P - P 3,093.7

Accounts payable and

other liabilities 144.8 - - 14.7 159.5

Lease deposits 167.1 423.9 995.0 220.0 1,806.0

P 2,860.9 P 968.6 P 995.0  P 234.7 P 5,059.2

The Group and the Parent Company’s maturing financial liabilities within the one to three month period pertain to bills 

payable due to various private entities and individuals.  Maturing bills payable are usually settled through repayments.  

When maturing financial assets are not sufficient to cover the related maturing financial liabilities, bills payable and 

other currently maturing financial liabilities are rolled over/refinanced or are settled by entering into new borrowing 

arrangements with other counterparties.  

Notes to Financial Statements
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components as of December 31:

Group
2010 2009 2008

Cash on hand and in banks P 43.9 P 156.6 P 184.1
Cash equivalents 28.0 75.8 2.0

P 71.9 P 232.4 P 186.1

Parent Company
2010 2009 2008

Cash on hand and in banks P 41.2 P 141.6 P 169.8

Cash equivalents 28.0 34.8 2.1

P 69.2 P 176.4 P 171.9

Cash in banks earn interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents represent a special savings 
account and time-deposit with annual interest rate ranging from 1.0% to 3.2% in 2010, 1.00% to 2.75% in 2009 and 
2.375% to 3.00% in 2008.

7. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

The composition of available-for-sale financial assets for the Group and the Parent Company as of December 31 pertain 
to the following:

2010 2009 2008

SMC Series “1” preferred shares P 1,269.8 P 1,299.8 P -
Club shares and other equity investments 1.4 1.4 1.4

1,271.2 1,301.2 1.4
Accumulated fair value gains (losses) 253.2 ( 0.3) ( 0.3)

P 1,524.4 P 1,300.9 P 1.1

As of December 31, 2010, the SMC Series “1” preferred shares (the SMC shares) represents 16.9 million preferred shares 
originally acquired at P75 per share on December 22, 2009.  The SMC shares bear an interest rate of 8% per annum, 
subject to adjustment at the end of the fifth year after October 2, 2009 if the SMC shares are not redeemed at the option 
of SMC.  The rate will be the higher between the dividend rate or the 10-year PDSTF rate prevailing at the end of the fifth 
year from October 2, 2009 plus a spread of 3%.  

On December 8, 2010, the SMC shares became publicly-traded and closed at the price of P90 per share on December 31, 
2010.  Thus, the Parent recognized unrealized fair value gain of P246.4, net of deferred stock transaction tax at 1/2 of 1% 
of the total market value of P1,524.4 or P7.6.  The unrealized fair value gain of P246.4 is included under the Unrealized Fair 
Value Gain (Loss) on Available-for-Sale Financial Assets account in the statement of financial position while the deferred 
stock transaction tax of P7.6 was recognized in Other Comprehensive Income and as part of Deferred Tax Liabilities 
account as of December 31, 2010 (see Note 20). 

Before the listing of the shares in 2010, the Parent sold 0.4 million of the SMC shares at its original cost of P75 per share 
or for a total of P30.5.  Hence, no gain or loss were recognized on the transaction.  

As of December 31, 2009, the SMC shares were carried at its original cost of P75 per share or P1,297.5 for the 17.3 million 
shares since the cost of the investment at that date did not differ significantly from the market value at the date of 
issuance on December 22, 2009.

The remaining P1.4 balance of AFS financial assets at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 consist of Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Co. (PLDT) preferred and golf and country club shares of stock that are carried at their fair value 
equal to P1.4.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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8. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

This account consists of the following:

Group
2010 2009 2008

Receivable from customers:
Finance lease receivables P 4,740.3 P 3,395.2 P 3,587.1
Residual value of leased assets 2,235.6 1,919.6 1,664.8
Unearned leased income ( 699.6) ( 554.4) ( 526.5)

6,276.3 4,760.4 4,725.4

Loans and receivables financed 7,602.5 6,078.0 3,643.5
Unearned finance income ( 1,695.67) ( 1,466.0) ( 515.9)
Client’s equity ( 129.5) ( 137.4) ( 127.3)

5,777.3 4,474.6 3,000.3

Other receivables:
Sales contract receivable 50.8 52.0 47.5
Accounts receivable 31.8 39.7 52.2
Accrued interest receivable 27.2 0.3 0.4
Dividends receivable 24.0 - -

133.8 92.0 100.1

Total 12,187.3 9,327.0 7,825.8
Allowance for impairment ( 234.3) ( 184.3) ( 132.9)

P 11,953.0 P 9,142.7 P 7,692.9

Parent Company

2010 2009  2008

Receivable from customers:
Finance lease receivables P 4,740.3 P 3,395.2 P 3,587.1
Residual value of leased assets 2,235.5 1,919.6 1,664.8
Unearned leased income ( 699.6) ( 554.4) ( 526.5)

6,276.2 4,760.4 4,725.4

Loans and receivables financed 7,602.5 6,078.0 4,306.4
Unearned finance income ( 1,695.7) ( 1,466.0) ( 521.5)
Client’s equity ( 129.5) ( 137.4) ( 127.3)

5,777.5 4,474.6 3,657.6

Other receivables:
Sales contract receivable 50.8 51.9 47.4
Accounts receivable 29.9 28.8 31.4
Accrued interest receivable 27.3 0.3 0.4
Dividends receivable 24.0 - -
Due from subsidiary 10.5 - -

142.5 81.0 79.2

Total 12,196.0 9,316.0 8,462.2
Allowance for impairment ( 234.3) ( 184.3) ( 132.9)

P 11,961.6 P 9,131.7 P 8,329.3

Notes to Financial Statements
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As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 94%, 41% and 61%, respectively, of the total receivables from customers of the 

Group are subject to periodic interest repricing.  Remaining receivables from customers earn annual fixed interest rates 

ranging from 8% to 30% in 2010, 6% to 36% in 2009 and 9% to 37% in 2008.

Interest income on receivables pertaining to the residual value of assets under finance lease accrued using the effective 

interest method amounted to P6.0, P19.3 and P31.1 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and is presented as part of Interest 

and Discounts in the Group and Parent Company statements of comprehensive income.

The breakdown of total loans as to secured and unsecured follows:

Group

2010 2009 2008

Secured

Real estate mortgage P 553.1 P 562.8 P 944.4

Chattel mortgage 7,311.3 7,601.7 5,949.5

7,864.4 8,164.5 6,893.9

Unsecured 4,088.6 978.2 799.0

P 11,953.0 P 9,142.7 P 7,692.9

Parent Company

2010 2009 2008

Secured

Real estate mortgage P 553.1 P 562.8 P 944.4

Chattel mortgage 7,311.3 7,601.7 5,982.6

7,864.4 8,164.5 6,927.0

Unsecured 4,097.2 967.2 1,402.3

P 11,961.6 P 9,131.7 P 8,329.3

An analysis of the Group’s and Parent Company’s finance lease receivables as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is 

shown below:

2010 2009 2008

Maturity of gross investment in:

Finance lease receivables

Within one year P 2,935.6 P 1,740.0 P 2,263.0

Beyond one year but not beyond five years 1,804.7 1,655.2 1,324.1

4,740.3 3,395.2 3,587.1

Residual value of leased assets

Within one year 824.0 616.9 569.0

Beyond one year but not beyond five years 1,411.5 1,302.7 1,095.8

2,235.5 1,919.6 1,664.8

Gross finance lease receivable 6,975.8 5,314.8 5,251.9

Unearned lease income ( 699.9) ( 554.4) ( 526.5)

Net investment in finance lease receivables P 6,276.2 P 4,760.4 P 4,725.4

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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An analysis of the Group’s and Parent Company’s net investment in finance lease receivables follows:

2010 2009  2008

Due within one year P 3,321.7 P 2,057.6 P 2,763.9

Due within one year but not

beyond five years 2,954.5 2,702.8 1,961.5

P 6,276.2 P 4,760.4 P 4,725.4

Past due finance lease receivables amounted to P354.8, P400.0 and P344.9 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively.

Past due loans and receivables financed amounted to P313.0, P315.3 and P290.1 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively.

In 2010, 2009 and 2008, the BOD approved the write-off of certain loans and receivables financed and finance lease 

receivables with total amount of P29.3, P43.7 and P157.9, respectively.

Interest and discounts in the statements of comprehensive income consists of interest on:

Group

2010 2009 2008

Loans and receivable financed P 583.8 P 454.4 P 556.0

Finance lease receivables 440.1 399.0 455.6

Due from affiliates and other loans 4.4 10.8 0.4

Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 0.7 0.5

P 1,028.8 P 864.9 P 1,012.5

Parent Company

2010 2009 2008

Loans and receivables financed P 583.8 P 459.9 P 562.1

Finance lease receivables 440.1 399.0 455.6

Due from affiliates and other loans 2.8 32.9 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 0.7 0.5

P  1,027.2 P  892.5 P  1,018.5

The changes in the allowance for impairment for the Group and the Parent Company are summarized below. 

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 184.3 P 132.9 P 215.9

Impairment losses during the year 99.0 94.5 75.0

Accounts written off ( 49.0) ( 43.1) ( 158.0)

Balance at end of year P 234.3 P 184.3 P 132.9

Notes to Financial Statements
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization of property and equipment at the beginning 

and end of 2010, 2009 and 2008 are shown below.

 

Transportation Furniture, Leasehold

and Other Fixtures Improve-

Equipment and Others ments Total

Group

December 31, 2010

Cost P 2,855.4 P 22.5 P 24.9 P 2,902.8

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 2,016.4) ( 15.6) ( 13.9) ( 2,045.9)

Net carrying amount P 839.0 P 6.9 P 11.0 P 856.9

December 31, 2009

Cost P 2,654.1 P 18.4 P 19.2 P 2,691.7

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 1,221.9) ( 12.7) ( 4.6) ( 1,239.2)

Net carrying amount P 1,432.2 P 5.7 P 14.6 P 1,452.5

December 31, 2008

Cost P 1,847.9 P 18.8 P 9.8 P 1,876.5

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 213.4) ( 12.0) ( 1.4) ( 226.8)

Net carrying amount P 1,634.5 P 6.8 P 8.4 P 1,649.7

January 1, 2008

Cost P 345.5 P 19.5 P 3.2 P 368.2

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 43.7) ( 13.8) ( 0.6) ( 58.1)

Net carrying amount P 301.8 P 5.7 P 2.6 P 310.1

Parent Company

December 31, 2010

Cost P - P 22.5 P 24.9 P 47.4

Accumulated depreciation and amortization - ( 15.6) ( 13.9) ( 29.5)

Net carrying amount P - P 6.9 P 11.0 P 17.9

December 31, 2009

Cost P - P 18.4 P 19.2 P 37.6

Accumulated depreciation and amortization - ( 12.7) ( 4.6) ( 17.3)

Net carrying amount P - P 5.7 P 14.6 P 20.3

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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Transportation Furniture, Leasehold

and Other Fixtures Improve-

Equipment and Others ments Total

December 31, 2008

Cost P - P 18.7 P 9.8 P 28.5

Accumulated depreciation and amortization - ( 12.0) ( 1.3) ( 13.3)

Net carrying amount P - P 6.7 P 8.5 P 15.2

January 1, 2008

Cost P - P 19.5 P 3.1 P 22.6

Accumulated depreciation and amortization - ( 13.8) ( 0.6) ( 14.4)

Net carrying amount P - P 5.7 P 2.5 P 8.2

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property and equipment at the beginning and end of 2010 and 2009 is shown 

below.

Transportation Furniture, Leasehold

and Other Fixtures Improve-

Equipment and Others ments Total

Group

Balance at January 1, 2010,

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 1,432.2 P 5.7 P 14.6 P 1,452.5

Additions 211.4 6.2 5.7 223.3

Disposals ( 5.0) ( 0.7) - ( 5.7)

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year ( 799.6) ( 4.3) ( 9.3) ( 813.2)

Balance at 

December 31, 2010, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 839.0 P 6.9 P 11.0 P 856.9

Balance at January 1, 2009,

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 1,634.5 P 6.8 P 8.4 P 1,649.7

Additions 832.9 2.6 12.0 847.5

Disposals ( 15.6) - ( 0.5) ( 16.1)

Reclassifications 13.8 0.7 ( 0.2) 14.3

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year ( 1,033.4) ( 4.4) ( 5.1) ( 1,042.9)

Balance at 

December 31, 2009, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 1,432.2 P 5.7 P 14.6 P 1,452.5

Notes to Financial Statements
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Transportation Furniture, Leasehold

and Other Fixtures Improve-

Equipment and Others ments Total

Balance at January 1, 2008

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 301.8 P 5.7 P 2.6 P 310.1

Additions 1,511.6 6.4 7.6 1,525.6

Disposals ( 6.5) ( 1.6) ( 0.4) ( 8.5)

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year ( 172.4) ( 3.7) ( 1.4) ( 177.5)

Balance at 

December 31, 2008, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P 1,634.5 P 6.8 P 8.4 P 1,649.7

Parent Company

Balance at January 1, 2010,

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 5.7 P 14.6 P 20.3

Additions - 6.2 5.7 11.9

Disposals - ( 0.7) - ( 0.7)

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 4.3) ( 9.3) ( 13.6)

Balance at 

December 31, 2010, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 6.9 P 11.0 P 17.9

Balance at January 1, 2009

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 6.9 P 8.3 P 15.2

Additions - 2.6 12.0 14.6

Disposals - - ( 0.5) ( 0.5)

Reclassifications - 0.6 ( 0.1) 0.5

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 4.4) ( 5.1) ( 9.5)

Balance at 

December 31, 2009, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 5.7 P 14.6 P 20.3

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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Transportation Furniture, Leasehold

and Other Fixtures Improve-

Equipment and Others ments Total

Balance at January 1, 2008

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 5.7 P 2.5 P 8.2

Additions - 6.4 7.6 14.0

Disposals - ( 1.6) ( 0.4) ( 2.0)

Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 3.6) ( 1.4) ( 5.0)

Balance at 

December 31, 2008, 

net of accumulated depreciation 

and amortization P - P 6.9 P 8.3 P 15.2

Depreciation and amortization charges for the year are included as part of Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses 

account in the statements of comprehensive income.

In 2009 and 2008, the Group entered into sale and lease back transactions classified as operating lease with a lessee, with 

lease terms ranging from 20 to 24 months, involving various equipment.  The gross carrying amount and accumulated 

depreciation of the subject equipment as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 follow:

 

2010 2009 2008

Cost P 730.0 P 730.0 P 1,370.0

Accumulated depreciation ( 641.5) ( 318.5) ( 95.4)

P 88.5 P 411.5 P 1,274.6

Total operating lease income earned from the leases presented as part of Rent in the Group statements of comprehensive 

income amounted to P356.6 in 2010, P1,025.9 in 2009 and P111.0 in 2008 (nil for the Parent Company).  The carrying 

amount of lease deposits payable to the lessee amounted to P21.8, P281.8 and P239.8 as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 

2008.  Interest expense accrued on such lease deposits included as part of Interest and Financing Charges account in the 

Group statements of comprehensive income amounted to P25.6 in 2010, P42.0 in 2009 and P1.8 in 2008.   

As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the net book value of transportation and other equipment leased out by the 

Group (nil for the Parent Company) under operating lease arrangements amounted to P839.0, P1,104.2 and P1,580.4, 

respectively.

In 2009, the Group disposed of certain transportation equipment with carrying value of P16.1 for P25.8, resulting to gain 

on sale of P9.7.  The gain is included as of part of Service Fees and Other Income in the 2009 statement of comprehensive 

income (see Note 16) for the Group and Parent Company.
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10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties include land and building and improvements held for rentals and capital appreciation.

The carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation at the beginning and end of 2010, 2009 and 2008 in the Group and 

Parent Company financial statements are shown below.

Building and 

Improve- 

Land ments Total

December 31, 2010

Cost P 690.1 P 128.6 P 818.7

Accumulated depreciation - ( 45.5)  ( 45.5)

Accumulated impairment ( 41.5) ( 30.4)  ( 71.9)

Net carrying amount P 648.6 P 52.7 P 701.3

December 31, 2009 (as restated)

Cost P 709.6 P 106.5 P 816.1

Accumulated depreciation - ( 34.7)  ( 34.7)

Accumulated impairment ( 41.5) ( 14.4)  ( 55.9)

Net carrying amount P 668.1 P 57.4 P 725.5

December 31, 2008 (as restated)

Cost P 682.4 P 110.3 P 792.7

Accumulated depreciation - ( 26.0)  ( 26.0)

Accumulated impairment ( 41.5) ( 15.1)  ( 56.6)

Net carrying amount P 640.9 P 69.2 P 710.1

January 1, 2008 (as restated)

Cost P 613.6 P 134.3 P 747.9

Accumulated depreciation - ( 18.7)  ( 18.7)

Accumulated impairment ( 41.5) ( 22.9)  ( 64.4)

Net carrying amount P 572.1 P 51.2 P 664.8

The Group recognized a prior period adjustment related to additional impairment loss of an investment property that 

should have been booked in 2006 (see Note 15.3).

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2010, 2009 and 2008 of investment properties in the 

Group and Parent Company financial statements is shown below.

Building and 
Improve- 

Land ments Total

Balance at January 1, 2010,
net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment P 668.1 P 57.4  P 725.5

Additions 19.6 11.9 31.5
Disposals ( 11.5) - ( 11.5)
Reclassifications ( 27.6) - ( 27.6)
Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 11.4) ( 11.4)
Impairment losses during the year - ( 5.2) ( 5.2)

Balance at
December 31, 2010,

net of accumulated depreciation 
and impairment P 648.6 P 52.7 P 701.3

Balance at January 1, 2009,
net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment (as restated) P 640.9 P 69.2  P 710.1

Additions 36.6 2.0 38.6
Disposals ( 9.4) ( 2.9)  ( 12.3)
Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 10.9) ( 10.9)

Balance at
December 31, 2009,

net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment (as restated) P 668.1 P 57.4 P 725.5

Balance at January 1, 2008
net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment (as restated) P 572.1 P 51.2  P 664.8

Additions 82.9 31.8 114.7
Disposals ( 14.1) ( 46.6)  ( 60.7)
Depreciation and amortization

charges for the year - ( 8.7) ( 8.7)

Balance at
December 31, 2008

net of accumulated depreciation 
and impairment (as restated) P 640.9 P 69.2 P 710.1

 

The appraised values of the investment properties as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 follow:

2010  2009 2008

Land P 931.1 P 941.6 P 950.3
Building and improvements 111.4 137.4 155.7

P 1,042.5 P 1,079.0 P 1,166.0

Direct operating expenses incurred on investment properties recognized in profit or loss are insignificant.

Gain on sale of investment properties lodged under Service Fees and Other Income amounted to P12.4, P7.2 and P9.2 in 

2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 16).
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11. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following:

Group

2010  2009 2008

Prepaid expenses P 107.9 P 71.9 P 27.6

Repossessed chattels and other equipment - net 41.1 17.2 23.0

Input value-added tax (VAT) 23.2 32.1 85.5

Miscellaneous - net 8,7 35.5 4.7

180.9 156.7 140.8

Allowance for impairment - - ( 13.8)

 P 180.9 P 156.7 P 127.0

 Parent Company

2010   2009 2008

Investment in subsidiary P  400.0 P  237.5 P  46.9

Repossessed chattels and other equipment - net 41.1 17.2 23.0

Prepaid expenses 33.2 25.4 26.6

Miscellaneous - net 8.6 35,2 4.4

 P  482.9 P  315.3 P  100.9

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation of repossessed chattels and other equipment are shown 

below.

2010  2009 2008

Cost P 71.5 P 37.1 P 31.7

Accumulated depreciation ( 25.1) ( 18.8) ( 8.7)

P 46.4 P 18.3 P 23.0

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of repossessed chattels and other equipment at the beginning and end of 2010, 

2009 and 2008 is shown below.

2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1, net of accumulated depreciation P 17.2 P 23.0 P 18.3

Additions 43.0 6.1 28.9

Disposals ( 7.9) ( 1.2) ( 14.5)

Depreciation charges for the year ( 11.2) ( 10.7) ( 9.7)

Balance at December 31, net of accumulated depreciation P 41.1 P 17.2 P 23.0

No impairment loss was recognized on repossessed chattels and other equipment in 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Input VAT includes transitional input tax and the VAT due or paid by the Group on purchases of goods, properties, and 

services, including lease or use of properties in the ordinary course of business.  

Investment in a subsidiary represents 100% ownership of the Group in BDO Rental. 

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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The movements of this account are presented below.

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 237.5 P 46.9 P 40.0

Additional investment during the year 162.5 197.5 -

400.0 244.4 40.0

Increase (decrease) in

deposit for future stock subscription - ( 6.9) 6.9

Balance at end of year P 400.0 P 237.5 P 46.9

On March 3, 2010, the Parent Company subscribed to additional 162.5 million preferred shares at P1 par value issued by 

BDO Rental or for a total of P162.5.  

In 2009, the Parent Company acquired additional 110 million common shares at P1 per share and 82.5 million preferred 

shares at P1 per share in BDO Rental’s capital stock. 

12. BILLS PAYABLE

This account consists of borrowings from: 

Group

2010  2009 2008

Banks P 623.0 P 1,525.5 P 1,635.3

Others 7,041.8 4,613.1 2,035.6

Accrued interest 1.4 4.4 10.7

P 7,666.2 P 6,143.0 P 3,681.6

  Parent Company

2010  2009 2008

Banks P 623.0 P 1,525.5 P 1,053.7

Others 7,009.6 3,735.6 2,035.5

Accrued interest 1.3 2.4 4.4

P 7,633.9 P 5,263.5 P 3,093.6
 

Bills payable to banks represent peso borrowings from local banks (including BDO Unibank as of December 31, 2010, 

2009 and 2008 – see Note 19), with annual interest rates ranging from 6.21% to 7.36% in 2010, 4.75% to 6.25% in 2009 and 

6.00% to 9.25% in 2008.  As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, bills payable - others represent short-term notes issued 

to individual investors, with annual interest rates ranging from 3.75% to 4.00%, 4.00% to 6.25% and 4.00% to 7.48%, 

respectively.  These rates approximate prevailing market rates.  

The breakdown of bills payable as to secured and unsecured follows:

Group

2010  2009 2008

Secured – real estate mortgage P 254.0 P - P 255.1

Unsecured 7,412.2 6,143.0 3,426.5

P 7,666.2 P 6,143.0 P 3,681.6
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Parent Company

2010 2009 2008

Secured – real estate mortgage P  254.0 P  - P  255.1

Unsecured 7,379.9 5,263.5 2,838.5

P  7,633.9 P  5,263.5 P  3,093.6

Interest and financing charges consist of interest on:

 

Group

Note 2010 2009  2008

Bills payable - banks P 28.0 P 54.1 P 150.8

Bills payable - others 266.0 158.1 80.9

Amortization on lease deposits 14 36.9 69.2 52.8

P 330.9 P 281.4 P 284.5

Parent Company

Note 2010 2009  2008

Bills payable - banks P 28.0 P 27.6 P 130.3

Bills payable - others 260.4 143.1 80.8

Amortization on lease deposits 14 11.2 35.8 44.1

P 299.6 P 206.5 P 255.2

13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and other liabilities consist of the following:

 

Group

Note 2010 2009 2008

Accounts payable P 54.5 P 43.8 P 40.8

Accrued taxes and

other expenses 15.6 7.8 13.7

Retirement benefit obligation 18 9.9 13.8 14.7

Withholding and 

other taxes payable 6.6 11.0 4.3

Deferred rent - - 20.7

Other liabilities 18.1 16.0 18.6

P 104.7 P 92.4 P 112.8

 Parent Company

Note 2010  2009 2008

Accounts payable P 53.4 P 42.2 P 29.9

Accrued taxes and

other expenses 15.6 6.9 13.1

Retirement benefit obligation 18 9.9 13.8 14.7

Withholding taxes payable 6.2 10.9 4.2

Other liabilities 14.0 15.3 18.3

P 99.1 P 89.1 P 80.2

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
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Management considers the carrying amounts of accounts payable and other liabilities recognized in the statements of 

financial position to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values due to their short duration.

14. LEASE DEPOSITS 

This account represents deposits on:

Group
2010   2009 2008

Finance leases P  2,254.3 P  1,974.1 P  1,742.9
Operating leases 363.4 327.8 282.6

P  2,617.7 P  2,301.9 P  2,025.5

Parent Company
2010   2009 2008

Finance leases P  2,254.3 P  1,974.1 P  1,742.8
 

Interest expense on lease deposits accrued using the effective interest method in the Group’s financial statements 

amounted to P36.9, P69.2 and P52.8 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and P11.2, P35.8 and P44.1 in 2010, 2009 and 

2008, respectively, in the Parent Company financial statements (see Note 12).   These are included as part of Interest and 

Financing Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in the Group and Parent Company statements of comprehensive 

income.

15. EQUITY

15.1  Capital Management Objectives, Policies and Procedures 

The Group’s capital management objectives are:

a. To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk; and

b. To ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure and the Group manages the capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 

underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 

paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group’s capital and overall financing as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 are computed are shown below: 

 

2009 2008
2010 (As restated) (As restated)

Total equity P 4,565.8 P 4,335.1 P 4,467.6
Cash and cash equivalents ( 71.9) ( 232.4) ( 186.1)

Net capital P 4,493.9 P 4,102.7 P 4,281.5

Bills payable P 7,666.2 P 6,143.0 P 3,681.6
Lease deposits 2,617.7 2,301.9 2,025.5
Total equity 4,565.8 4,335.1 4,467.6

Overall financing P 14,849.7 P 12,780.0 P 10,174.7

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 1 : 3.30 1 : 3.12 1 : 2.38
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As in previous years, there are no externally imposed capital requirements.

15.2  Capital Stock

The Parent Company has 200,000 authorized preferred shares at P100 par value a share with the following features:

a.  Issued serially in blocks of not less than 100,000 shares;

b.  No pre-emptive rights to any or all issues on other disposition of preferred shares;

c.  Entitled to cumulative dividends at a rate not higher than 20% yearly;

d.  Subject to call or with rights for their redemption, either mandatory at a fixed or determinable date after issue; and,

e.  Nonvoting, except in cases expressly provided for by law.

None of these authorized preferred shares are issued as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, out of the total authorized capital stock of 3,400,000,000 common shares with par 

value of P1 per share, 2,225,169,030 common shares amounting to P2,225,169,030 are issued and outstanding.

On December 8, 2010 and May 31, 2010, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends at P0.10 per share and P0.05 

per share, respectively, amounting to P216.2 and P108.2 or for a total of P324.4 for the year.  The December 2010 and May 

2010 dividends were declared in favor of stockholders of record as of December 22, 2010 and June 30, 2010, respectively.  

As of December 31, 2010, the December 2010 dividends are still outstanding and is shown as Dividends Payable in the 

statement of financial position. 

On November 11, 2009, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to P432.5 at P0.20 per share on 

the 2,162,475,312 shares outstanding at the date of declaration.

 

15.3  Prior Period Adjustments

 

The balance of Retained Earnings and other statement of financial position accounts as of January 1, 2008 have been 

restated from the amounts previously stated to recognize the additional impairment loss on an investment property 

based on an appraisal that should have been reflected in the 2006 financial statements, and to adjust the balance of the 

deferred tax asset based on the balance at the end of 2007 of certain temporary differences relating to impairment losses 

and retirement liability.  

The breakdown of the effects of the prior period adjustments in the opening balance of retained earnings for 2010, 2009 

and 2008 is shown below.

2010  2009 2008

Unrecognized impairment loss 

on investment property, net of deferred

tax component of P12.0 P 29.5 P 29.5 P 29.5

Adjustment to correct the balance 

of deferred tax assets related to 

temporary differences 10.2 10.2 10.2

P 39.7 P 39.7 P 39.7

The details of these prior period adjustments are explained further in the succeeding sections:

(a) Recognition of Impairment Loss on Investment Property at the Beginning of 2008

The carrying amount of the investment property referred to above was P66.8 at the end of 2006, before consideration of 

any fair valuation of the property.  Based on the appraisal made on the property as of December 31, 2006, the fair value 

of the property was P25.3, or P41.5 lower than the carrying amount before the appraisal.  Accordingly, an impairment 

loss equal to P41.5 should have been recognized in 2006.  To correct this, the Parent Company restated the balance of 

investment property by reducing it by P41.5.
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(b) Adjustment to Correct the 2008 Beginning Balance of Deferred Tax Assets

The Parent Company adjusted the beginning balance of 2008 deferred tax assets to conform with the outstanding balance 

at that date of the following temporary differences:

Allowance for impairment losses on: 

Loans and discounts P 7.0

Investment properties 3.4

Accounts receivable ( 2.6)

Retirement liability 2.4

Net deferred tax adjustment P 10.2
 

The following schedules present the specific accounts affected by the prior period adjustments in the 2009 and 2008 

statements of financial position, as previously reported, restatement adjustments and the corresponding restated 

balances:

 

Group

As Prior Period

Previously Adjustments Restated

Reported Add (Deduct) Balance

December 31, 2009

Asset

Investment properties P 767.0 (P 41.5) P 725.5

Liability

Deferred tax liability - net 66.6 ( 1.8) 64.8

Equity

Retained earnings 1,660.6 ( 39.7) 1,620.9

December 31, 2008

Asset

Investment property P 751.6 (P 41.5) P 710.1

Liability

Deferred tax liability - net 72.3 ( 1.8) 70.5

Equity

Retained earnings 1,793.1 ( 39.7) 1,753.4

January 1, 2008

Asset

Investment property P 706.3 (P 41.5) P 664.8

Liability

Deferred tax liability - net 40.9 ( 1.8) 39.1

Equity

Retained earnings 1,427.5 ( 39.7) 1,387.8
 

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)

Notes to Financial Statements



68

We find ways

 Parent Company
As Prior Period

Previously Adjustments Restated
 Reported Add (Deduct) Balance
December 31, 2009

Asset
Investment property P 767.0 (P 41.5) P 725.5

Liability
Deferred tax liability - net 71.9 ( 1.8) 70.1

Equity
Retained earnings 1,525.3 ( 39.7) 1,485.6

December 31, 2008
Asset

Investment property P 751.6 (P 41.5) P 710.1
Liability

Deferred tax liability - net 79.2 ( 1.8) 77.4
Equity

Retained earnings 1,659.8 ( 39.7) 1,620.1

January 1, 2008
Asset

Investment property P 706.3 (P 41.5) P 664.8
Liability

Deferred tax liability - net 40.8 ( 1.8) 39.0
Equity

Retained earnings 1,367.1 ( 39.7) 1,327.4

16. SERVICE FEES AND OTHER INCOME

This account is composed of the following:

  

Group
2010 2009  2008

Dividend income P 104.9 P - P -
Recovery on charged-off accounts 16.5 11.1 4.7
Gain on assets acquired 12.4 7.2 9.2
Service fees 1.9 95.6 20.7
Fair value gains - net 1.9 7.3 51.1
Gain on sale of property and equipment 0.9 10.7 -
Gain on sale of receivable - 62.6 -
Miscellaneous 39.8 24.4 13.9

P 178.3 P 218.9 P 99.6

 Parent Company
2010 2009 2008

Dividend income P 104.9 P - P -
Recovery on charged-off accounts 16.5 11.1 4.7
Gain on assets acquired 12.4 7.2 9.2
Service fees 1.9 95.6 20.7
Fair value gains (losses) - net ( 0.6) ( 0.4) 1.5
Gain on sale of receivable - 62.6 -
Miscellaneous 22.5 11.4 14.5

P 157.6 P 187.5 P 50.6
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Dividend income in 2010 pertains to income earned for investments in SMC shares acquired in December 2009 (see  

Note 7).

Fair value gains (losses) – net represent the fair value gains on initial recognition of lease deposits (representing excess of 

principal amount over fair value of leased deposits), net of the fair value losses on initial recognition of the residual value 

receivables under finance lease.

In 2009, the Group sold certain receivables with carrying amount of P501.4 for P564.0 to BDO Unibank, resulting to gain on 

sale amounting to P62.6 (see also Note 19).   

 

17. LEASES

The Group’s finance lease contracts generally have lease terms ranging from 24 to 60 months.

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into various operating leases with lease terms ranging from 6 to 60 

months.  Operating lease income presented under Rent account in the Group statements of comprehensive income for 

the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to P830.9, P1,125.7 and P256.4, respectively. 

Future minimum rentals receivable under operating leases follow:

2010 2009  2008

Within one year P 138.8 P 1.1 P 765.4

After one year but not more

than five years 159.5 898.2 457.8

P 298.3 P 899.3 P 1,223.2

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

18.1 Salaries and Employee Benefits Expense

Expenses recognized for salaries and employee benefits are presented below:

2010 2009 2008

Salaries and wages P 70.0 P 75.5 P 65.1

Bonuses 22.6 23.8 23.9

Retirement – defined benefit plan 18.1 14.2 7.9

Social security costs 2.8 3.5 2.9

Other benefits 20.6 16.9 14.5

P 134.1 P 133.9 P 114.3

18.2 Post-employment Benefits

The Parent Company maintains a wholly-funded, tax-qualified, noncontributory retirement plan that is being administered 

by a trustee covering all regular full-time employees.  Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the retirement 

benefit costs and the amount of contributions.
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The amounts of retirement benefit obligation presented in the statements of financial position as part Accounts Payable 

and Other Liabilities, respectively, are determined as follows (see Note 13): 

 

2010   2009 2008

Present value of the obligation P  101.5 P  115.3 P  86.3

Fair value of plan assets (  61.1) (  51.3) (  44.6)

Excess of obligation 40.4 64.0 41.7

Net unrecognized actuarial gains (  30.5) (  50.2) (  27.0)

P  9.9 P  13.8 P  14.7
 

The movements in the present value of the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the books follow:

 

2010  2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 115.4 P 86.3 P 67.4

Current service cost and interest cost 19.4 16.7 11.6

Actuarial losses (gains) ( 15.0) 24.8 18.9

Transfer from the plan ( 5.0) - -

Benefits paid by the plan ( 13.3) ( 12.5) ( 11.6)

Balance at end of year P 101.5 P 115.3 P 86.3

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below.

 

2010  2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year P 51.3 P 44.6 P 46.4

Contributions paid into the plan 22.1 15.0 6.9

Benefits paid by the plan ( 13.3) ( 12.5) ( 11.6)

Actuarial gains 3.2 1.0 ( 0.8)

Transfer from the plan ( 5.0) - -

Expected return on plan assets 2.8 3.2 3.7

Balance at end of year P 61.1 P 51.3 P 44.6
 

Actual return on plan assets amounted P6.1 in 2010, P4.1 in 2009 and P3.0 in 2008.

The amounts of retirement benefits expense recognized in profit or loss follow: 

 

2010 2009  2008

Current service costs P 8.7 P 6.9 P 6.0

Interest costs 10.7 9.8 5.6

Expected return on plan assets ( 2.8) ( 3.2) ( 3.7)

Other benefits 1.5 0.7 -

 P 18.1 P 14.2 P 7.9
 

In determining the retirement benefits, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

 

2010 2009   2008

Discount rates 8.25% 9.28% 11.38%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 5.00% 5.00% 7.00%

Expected rate of salary increases 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
 

For 2011, the Group expects to contribute P17.0 to the plan.
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with BDO Unibank and other affiliates.  Under the 

Group’s policy, these transactions are made substantially on the same terms as with other individuals and businesses of 

comparable risks.

a.  As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, total savings and demand deposit accounts maintained with BDO 

Unibank by the Group amounted to P42.6, P71.2 and P54.2, respectively.  Interest income earned on deposits 

amounted to P4.7, P0.8 and P0.6 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Cash equivalents totaling P16.0 and P66.0 is 

also maintained with BDO Unibank as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

b.  Total bills payable to BDO Unibank amounted to P351.0 as of December 31, 2010 and P254.0 as of December 31, 

2009 and 2008.  Interest expense incurred on bills payable amounted to P0.5, P14.2 and P11.3 in 2010, 2009 and 

2008, respectively.  

c.  The Parent Company leases its head office premises and certain branch offices from BDO Unibank for terms ranging 

from one to five years, renewable for such period and under such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon with  

the Parent Company and BDO Unibank.  Related rent expense incurred amounted to P17.8, P16.1 and P12.7 in 

2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

d.  In 2010 and 2008, the Parent Company granted short-term unsecured loan amounting to P10.5 and P668.0, 

respectively, to BDO Rental, at prevailing market rates.  The 2010 loan is not yet fully paid as of December 31, 2010 

while the 2008 loan was fully paid in 2009.  The loans carrying amount as of December 31, 2010 and 2008 amounted 

to P10.5 and P657.2 and are presented as part of Loans and Other Receivables in the Parent Company’s statements 

of financial position.

Total interest income earned by the Parent Company amounted to P1.0 in 2010, P27.6 in 2009 and P6.1 in 2008 on 

these loan transactions and is presented as part of Interest and Discounts in the Parent Company’s statements of 

comprehensive income. 

e.  In 2009, the Group sold certain receivables with carrying amount of P501.4 for P564.0 to BDO Unibank, resulting 

to gain on sale of P62.6.  The gain is included as presented as Gain on Sale of Receivable under Service Fees and 

Other Income (see Note 16).

f.  Compensation of key management personnel (covering officer positions starting from Assistant Vice President and 

up) amounted to P26.2 in 2010, P24.6 in 2009 and P20.7 in 2008 and is included as part of Employee Benefits under 

Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of comprehensive income of the Group and Parent Company.  

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, profit sharing and bonuses, 

and non-monetary benefits.

20. TAXES

20.1 Taxes and Licenses

This account is composed of the following:

Group

2010 2009  2008

Gross receipts tax P 57.7 P 56.9 P 53.9

Documentary stamp tax 36.9 24.2 16.7

Local taxes 13.4 8.3 7.1

Others 4.8 2.9 3.0

P 112.8 P 92.3 P 80.7
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 Parent Company

2010 2009  2008

Gross receipts tax P 57.7 P 56.9 P 53.9

Documentary stamp tax 36.5 19.4 14.8

Local taxes 6.6 7.1 6.6

Others 3.3 2.1 3.0

P 104.1 P 85.5 P 78.3

20.2 Current and Deferred Taxes

The components of tax expense reported in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 follow:

Group

2010  2009 2008

Reported in profit or loss

Current tax expense:

Regular corporate income tax (RCIT) at 30% in 2010 

and 2009 and 35% in 2008 P 83.4 P 157.9 P 133.3

Final tax at 20%, 10% and 7.5% 0.8 2.1 0.1

84.2 160.0 133.4

Deferred tax expense (income)

Deferred tax relating to origination and 

reversal of temporary difference 15.7 ( 5.6) 37.3

Deferred tax relating to reduction in tax rate - - ( 5.7)

15.7 ( 5.6) 31.6

P 99.9 P 154.4 P 165.0

Reported in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax relating to

origination of temporary difference P 7.6 P - P -

 Parent Company

2010  2009 2008

Reported in profit or loss

Current tax expense:

Regular corporate income tax (RCIT)

at 30% in 2010 and 2009 and 35% in 2008 P 70.1 P 147.5 P 107.3

Final tax at 20%, 10% and 7.5% 0.4 2.2 0.1

70.5 149.7 107.4

Deferred tax expense (income)

Deferred tax relating to origination 

and reversal of temporary difference 18.1 ( 7.4) 44.2

Deferred tax relating to reduction in tax rate - - ( 5.8)

18.1 ( 7.4) 38.4

P 88.6 P 142.3 P 145.8

Reported in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax relating to

origination of temporary difference P 7.6 P - P -

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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A reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense reported in the 

statements of comprehensive income follows:

Group

2010 2009 2008

Tax on pretax income at 30% in 2010

and 2009 and 35% in 2008 P 122.6 P 136.3 P 185.8

Adjustment for income subjected to lower tax rates ( 0.6)  ( 1.4) ( 0.1)

Tax effects of:

Non-deductible expense 8.4 26.4 25.1

Non-taxable income ( 34.1) ( 8.0) ( 34.0)

Non-deductible interest expense 3.6 1.1 0.3

Reduction in deferred tax rate - - ( 12.1)

Tax expense reported in profit or loss P 99.9 P 154.4 P 165.0

Parent Company

2010 2009 2008

Tax on pretax income at 30% in 2010

and 2009 and 35% in 2008 P 118.5 P 132.1 P 153.5

Adjustment for income subjected to lower tax rates ( 0.4) ( 1.4) ( 0.1)

Tax effects of:

Non-deductible expense 0.2 16.3 21.9

Non-taxable income ( 33.3) ( 5.8) ( 16.6)

Non-deductible interest expense 3.6 1.1 0.3

Reduction in deferred tax rate - - ( 13.2)

Tax expense reported in profit or loss P 88.6 P 142.3 P 145.8
 

The components of net deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 follow:

Group

2009 2008

(As Restated (As Restated

2010 - Note 15) - Note 15)

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for impairment on:

Loans P 68.2 P 52.7 P 41.6

Investment properties 21.2 16.4 16.4

Accounts receivable 2.1 2.6 2.6

Retirement benefit obligation 1.8 2.1 2.0

Others 0.6 0.6 1.7

93.9 74.4 64.3

Deferred tax liabilities:

Lease income differential 172.6 137.4 133.2

Unrealized fair value gain on available-for-sale securities 7.6 - -

Unrealized gain on exchange of assets 1.6 1.6 1.6

Others 0.2 0.2 -

182.0 139.2 134.8

Net deferred tax liabilities P 88.1 P 64.8 P 70.5
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Parent Company

2009 2008

(As Restated (As Restated

2010 - Note 15) - Note 15)

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for impairment on:

Loans and discounts P 68.2 P 52.7 P 37.4

Investment properties 21.2 16.4 16.4

Accounts receivable 2.1 2.6 2.6

Retirement benefit obligation 1.8 2.1 2.0

Others 0.6 0.6 1.2

93.9 74.4 59.6

Deferred tax liabilities:

Lease income differential 180.4 142.7 135.4

Unrealized fair value gain on available-for-sale securities 7.6 - -

Unrealized gain on exchange of assets 1.6 1.6 1.6

Others 0.2 0.2 -

189.7 144.4 137.0

Net deferred tax liabilities P 95.9 P 70.1 P 77.4

The balance of deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were reduced from the amounts previously reported 

to correct the balance of the account on certain temporary differences (see Note 15.3).

The components of deferred tax expense (income) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 follow:

Group 

Other

Compre-

hensive

Profit or loss Income

2010 2009 2008 2010

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for impairment on:

Loans and discounts P 15.5 P 11.1 (P 39.8) P -

Accounts receivable ( 0.5) - - -

Investment properties 4.8 - 1.2 -

Retirement benefit obligation ( 0.3) 0.1 ( 0.4) -

Others - ( 1.1) ( 1.4) -

19.5 10.1 ( 40.4) -

Lease income differential 35.3 4.2 ( 9.5) -

Unrealized gain on exchange of assets - - 0.7 -

Unrealized fair value gain 

on available-for-sale financial assets - - - 7.6

Others ( 0.1) 0.3 - -

35.2 4.5 ( 8.8) -

Deferred tax expense (income) P 15.7 (P 5.6) P 31.6 P 7.6

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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Group 

Other

Compre-

hensive

Profit or loss Income

2010 2009 2008 2010

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for impairment on:

Loans and discounts P 15.5 P 15.3 (P 39.1) P -

Accounts receivable ( 0.5) - - -

Investment properties 4.8 - 1.2 -

Retirement benefit obligation ( 0.3) 0.1 ( 0.4) -

Others - ( 0.7) ( 1.8) -

19.5 14.7 ( 40.1) -

Lease income differential 37.7 7.2 ( 2.3) -

Unrealized gain on exchange of assets - - 0.6 -

Unrealized fair value gain 

on available-for-sale financial assets - - - 7.6

Others ( 0.1) 0.1 - -

37.6 7.3 ( 1.7) -

Deferred tax expense (income) P 18.1 (P 7.4) P 38.4 P 7.6

20.3 Relevant Tax Regulations

Effective July 2009, Republic Act (RA) 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim itemized deduction 

or optional standard deduction equivalent to 40% of gross revenues.  Once the option is made, it shall be irrevocable for 

the taxable year for which the option was made.

In 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company opted to continue claiming itemized standard deductions.

20.4 Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations (RR) 15-2010

On November 25, 2010, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued RR 15-2010, which requires certain information 

on taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year to be disclosed as part of the notes to financial 

statements.  The supplementary information is, however, not a required part of the basic financial statements prepared 

in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards; it is neither a required disclosure under the Philippine 

Securities and Exchange Commission rules and regulations covering the form and content of financial statements under 

Securities Regulation Code Rule 68.

The Parent Company presented this tax information required by the BIR as a supplementary schedule filed separately 

from the basic financial statements.
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21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share were computed as follows:

 

 Group

2010 2009  2008

Net profit P 308.7 P 300.0 P 365.6

Divided by the weighted average number

of outstanding common shares – net* 2,162 2,162 2,162

Basic earnings per share P 0.14 P 0.14 P 0.17

Parent Company

2010 2009  2008

Net profit P 306.4 P 298.1 P 292.7

Divided by the weighted average number

of outstanding common shares – net* 2,162 2,162 2,162

Basic earnings per share P 0.14 P 0.14 P 0.14
 

 * net of treasury shares

 

There were no outstanding dilutive potential common shares as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

In addition to those already mentioned in the preceding notes, in the ordinary course of business, the Group incurs 

contingent liabilities and commitments arising from normal business transactions which are not reflected in the 

accompanying financial statements.  As of December 31, 2010, management does not anticipate significant losses 

from these contingencies and commitments that would adversely affect the Group’s financial position and results of 

operations.

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos Except Per Share Data, Exchange Rates and As Indicated)
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Products Branch Directory

LEASING

Now, you don’t even have 

to pay cash for your much 

needed equipment nor do 

you need to take on a loan 

to finance it! BDO Leasing 

gives you the alternative that 

guarantees minimal capital 

outlay. Discover some of the 

remarkable benefits:

FINANCIAL LEASE

•   Source of medium term 
financing

•  No chattel mortgage fees
•   Preserves your existing 

credit lines with other 

financial institutions

•   Provides an additional 
source of working capital 

and the continued use of  

equipment (for existing 

equipment)

Not only that, leasing 

enables you to upgrade your 

existing equipment!

 

OPERATING LEASE

•   Tax deductible rental 
payments

•   Better cash low 
management

•   Input Tax can be claimed 
if VAT-registered 

•  Conserves capital

So why buy when you can 

lease?

Amortized Commercial Loan 

(ACL)

Meet your capital 

expenditure requirements! 

With BDO Leasing’s ACL, 

you can acquire assets 

through mortgage of 

collateral either in the form 

of real estate or equipment. 

Plus, avail of higher loan 

values and expedient 

processing. 

INSTALLMENT PAPER 

PURCHASE (IPP)

Generate much needed cash! 

With IPP, you can convert 

tied-up capital into cash 

that you can use for your 

business. This can be done

through the assignment of 

existing installment sales 

contracts on a discounted 

basis.

FLOOR STOCK FINANCING (FSF)

With FSF, BDO Leasing can 

provide you short-term

financing for your acquisition

of inventory from suppliers. 

Plus, payment is done when 

units are sold or at the end of 

the term, whichever comes 

first.

FACTORING

Turn your short-term trade 

receivables into INSTANT 

CASH. In addition, BDO 

Leasing will:

•  Evaluate your customer’s 
credit standing

•  Send out regular 
statements to your 

customers

•  Collect the payments due 
your company

 

HEAD OFFICE

BDO Leasing Centre, 

Corinthian Gardens,

Ortigas Avenue, Quezon City

(02)635-6416

Fax Nos. 635-3898, 

635-5811, 633-7721, 635-3892,

635-5802, 635-6453

PACIFIC STAR BUILDING

Ground Floor, Pacific Star 

Bldg., Sen. Gil Puyat Ave.,

Makati City

(02)840-7000 loc. 6346/6355

DAGUPAN BRANCH

2nd Floor, BDO Building, 

A.B. Fernandez

Avenue, Dagupan City, 

Pangasinan 2400

(02)702-6000 loc. 52754

(075)522-2549

Fax No. (075)522-2549

SAN PABLO BRANCH

3rd Floor, BDO Building 

Rizal Street corner

P. Alcantara St. San Pablo 

City, Laguna

(02)702-6000 loc. 52195

(049)562-4786

Fax No. (049)562-4789

CAVITE BRANCH

2nd Floor, BDO Building, 

Dasma Technopark

Paliparan 1, Dasmariñas, 

Cavite

(02)6800-6428

(046)852-2057

Fax No. (02)529-8121

PAMPANGA BRANCH

2nd Floor, Palm Building, 

Mc Arthur Hi-way,

Sindalan, City of San 

Fernando Pampanga

(02)702-6000 loc. 52168

(045)861-4112

Fax No. (045)636-4279

CEBU BRANCH

Mezzanine Floor, BDO 

Building, Gorordo Avenue,

Cebu City

(02)702-6000 loc. 52717

(032)232-3506, 412-2262

Fax No. (032)231-6282

DAVAO BRANCH

2nd Floor, BDO Davao 

Regional Office, 383 C.M.

Recto Avenue, Davao City

(02)702-6000 loc. 52725

(082)222-3500, 221-6980

Fax No. (082)226-2851

ILOILO BRANCH

2nd Floor, BDO Corporate 

Center, BDO Valeria Branch,

Valeria Street, Iloilo City

(02)702-6000 loc. 52708

(033)337-8107

Fax No. (033)335-0127

CAGAYAN DE ORO BRANCH

2nd Floor, BDO Lapasan, 

Lapasan Hi-Way, 

Cagayan De Oro City

(088)856-3255, 2272-7767

Fax No. (088)231-4478

For your asset acquisition and working capital 

funding requirements, BDO Leasing provides 

these power-packed solutions:


